EFFECTIVE TRUANCY REDUCTION PROGRAMS:

HOW IS SUCCESS DEFINED?

by

VERONICA COLE

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of

The University of Texas at Arlington in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements

for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS AT ARLINGTON

May 2014

Copyright © by Veronica Cole 2014

All Rights Reserved

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost I would like to thank God for creating me in his image and blessing me daily. I know that without him nothing is possible. Several individuals have helped me throughout my pursuit of achieving a Ph. D. in Public Administration. Most importantly, I would like to thank the many judges, parents, non-profit administrators, and principals that allowed me to interview them and gave their time, knowledge, and expertise to contribute to this research endeavor.

I would like to extend a special thanks to Dr. Maria Martinez-Cosio, my dissertation chair. From the beginning of my educational career at The University of Texas at Arlington (UTA), you have encouraged and motivated me and challenged me to reach my full potential. Thank you for believing in me and devoting numerous hours to assisting me throughout the complex dissertation process. I am constantly amazed by how you effectively juggle your many responsibilities. Also, I want to extend a heartfelt appreciation to the remaining members of my committee: Dr. Colleen Casey and Dr. David Coursey. Each of you have provided me with valuable insight and support throughout the dissertation process.

Thanks to Lisa Berry, the coordinator for retention and completion at UTA's office of graduate studies for developing the dissertation lab and providing me with resources, ideas, and a space conducive for cultivating my masterpiece – my dissertation.

This dissertation is dedicated to my family and friends who provided me with a continuous supply of love, support, patience, encouragement, and guidance. Thank you to my parents, Glenn and Earnestine Cole who have always told me that I can do and be anything that I want to be. Thank you to my mother for working countless hours on transcribing my interviews and setting appointments with participants. Thank you to my father for always being there and "talking me up" or "talking me down". Hearing your voices daily eased my frustrations. I love you both and without either of you none of this would have been possible.

I am grateful for my brothers, Jason and Justin Cole, my sisters, my nieces, Amber Wakefield, Anabel Anderson, and Camille Anderson, my nephew Jaxson, and my two close friends Monica Haule and Haroun Busby for always being ready to help when I needed them. I am also grateful for the understanding and patience of my extended family, my Grandmother, Ardella Cole, my aunt, Bobbie Ann Cole, my two uncles, Carl Gilbert and Frankie Gilbert, Marcus Goynes, Cheryl Cole, Curtis O'Neal, Gayle Williams, and numerous other relatives because I have been missing in action, yet you love and support me still. Thank you to Patricia Glasgow for saving me numerous times by covering my classes, never asking for anything in return and for always being supportive and encouraging.

Finally, I would like to thank my best friend, Kolotyolo Kafalo Yeo. You are an inspiration to me. When things started getting tough you always challenged me to find a solution and push forward. Your faith in me never wavered and for that I love you,

respect you, and am eternally grateful. Thank you for being a positive force in my life.

May 2014

ABSTRACT

EFFECTIVE TRUANCY REDUCTION PROGRAMS: HOW IS SUCCESS

DEFINED?

Veronica Cole

The University of Texas at Arlington, 2014

Supervising Professor: Maria Martinez-Cosio

arrangement.

This research examines how stakeholders involved with the Dallas County Truancy Court define the success of truancy reduction programs. Previous studies have failed to include the perceptions of all major stakeholders and examine the process of meaning making. Judges, non-profit organizations, parents, and principals from the six districts serviced within the Dallas County Truancy Court were interviewed to assess how success was measured within truancy reduction programs. Findings indicate that the measure of success among stakeholders was not consistent. This study identified the factors that influenced meaning making and the barriers associated with developing a uniform definition of success among multiple stakeholders in a decentralized

vi

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
ABSTRACT	vi
LIST OF TABLES	xiv
Chapter	Page
1. INTRODUCTION	1
Purpose of the study	5
Significance of the study	6
2. REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE AND THEORETICAL PERSPECTIVES	8
Social Constructions	8
Philosophical Foundations of the Theory of Social Constructions	10
Construction of Ideas, Definitions, and Values	13
Factors that contribute to the development of success as a social construct	17
Institutionalization	17
Educational Legislation	17
Elementary and Secondary Education Act (1965)	20
Coleman Report (1966)	22
A Nation at Risk (1983)	24
Improving America's School Act (1994)	26
Goals 2000: Educate America Act (1994)	27

	No Child Left Behind (2001)	29
	Reform of No Child Left Behind (2010)	30
	How is Success Defined Based on Previous Educational Law?	31
	Personal Experience	32
	Can the Term "Success" be Considered a Social Construct?	33
	Defining Truancy	36
	Who are Truants?	39
	What is Success?	41
3. ME'	THODS	42
	Research Design	43
	Role of the Researcher	45
	Dallas County Truancy Court	46
	Dallas Independent School District	47
	Garland Independent School District	48
	Mesquite Independent School District	49
	Richardson Independent School District	50
	Sunnyvale Independent School District	51
	Texans Can Charter Schools	52
	Population and Sampling Procedures	54
	Instrumentation	62
	Data Collection	65

	Etnical Issuesb	O
	Reliability, Validity, and Generalizability6	7
	Limitations6	8
4. FIN	DINGS AND ANALYSIS6	9
	Introduction69	9
	Institutional Constraints-Educational Legislation	3
	Institutional Constraints-School Processes	7
	Institutional Constraints-Traditional Curriculum8	9
	Institutional Constraints-Access to Information9	4
	Institutional Constraints-Professional/Personal Experience9	5
	Institutional Constraints-Problem Identification9	8
	Institutional Constraints-Success as Program Completion versus Success as a Process	3
	Variables at the School Level that Reduce Truancy11	1
	Summary of Findings	8
5. CC	ONCLUSION12	6
	Implications, Directions for Future Study, and Policy Recommendations	6
APPENDIX		
A. LE	TTER FOR SOLICITING PARTICIPATION13	3
B. PH	ONE SCRIPTS FOR SOLICITING PARTICIPATION13	6
C. AP	PLICATION FOR INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD13	9

D. SCHOOL DISTRICT RESEARCH APPROVAL LETTERS	157
E. INFORMED CONSENT FOR PARENTS, JUDGES, AND NON-PR ADMINISTRATORS	
F. INFORMED CONSENT FOR DISD PRINCIPALS	165
G. INTERVIEW PROTOCOL FOR PARENTS	169
H. INTERVIEW PROTOCOL FOR JUDGES, NON-PROFIT ADMINISTRATORS, AND PRINCIPALS	171
REFERENCES	173
BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION	188

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1.1 District Campuses and Students Serviced	53
1.2 District Demographic Data	53
1.3 District AYP Data	54
2.1 Participant Characteristics: Judges	58
2.2 Participant Characteristics: Parents	59
2.3 Participant Characteristics: Non-Profit Administrators	60
2.4 Participant Characteristics: Principals	61

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Truancy is an issue that impacts society economically and socially as students leave school lacking the skills and knowledge needed to flourish in an informationbased society that demands higher education (Bye, Alvarez, Haynes, & Sweigart, 2010). The United States Department of Education reports that at least 7.5 million students miss a month of school annually (Center for Education Statistics, 2013). Students' absences result in 135 million days of lost instructional time in the classroom (Center for Education Statistics, 2013). Many truancy reduction programs focus on bringing students back into the classroom but may not target the underlying conditions that lead students to become truant and as a result the design of truancy programs varies widely (Baker, Sigmon, & Nugent, 2001). Some programs aim to provide counseling to chronically truant student but few offer academic support and it is this combination of social and academic support that may provide the right mix of resources to improve the success of chronically truant students (Bell, Rosen, & Dynlacht, 1994). A central question to determining the efficacy of truancy reduction programs is the program's definition of success, is success simply returning the student to the classroom? No occurrences of truancy episodes? Preventing the child from entering the juvenile court

system? The literature on truancy is unclear about this point. The goal of this research is to use the framework provided by the theory of social construction to determine if the term "success" is a shared construct among stakeholders involved with truancy reduction programs. If varying definitions of success exist among stakeholders, then identifying these definitions is important.

Truancy is associated with increased levels of delinquency and an increased reliance on social welfare programs (Baker, Sigmon, Nugent, 2001). It has a negative impact on taxpayers, businesses, and school districts as taxpayers bear the financial burden for uneducated, unemployed individuals through social programs such as welfare. Businesses lack an educated workforce and must provide training for employees. School districts run the risk of losing state and federal funding based on their student attendance records (Garry, 1996).

The United State government has encouraged the development and expansion of comprehensive truancy reduction programs by offering grants through the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention (OJJPD), Office of Safe and Drug Free Schools (SDFS), and the Truancy Reduction Demonstration Program (2008). The major goal of the U.S. government is to decrease the occurrence of truancy and in turn decrease the rate of incarceration and crime and increase future employability among youth. The United States Department of Education is seeking the development of programs that include partnerships between educators, the justice system, social

services, law enforcement, parents, and community resources (Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention, 2008). State governments develop clear, specific procedures and guidelines for handling truant students. For example, the Texas Education Code requires that districts use some type of truancy prevention strategy before filing a case against a truant student. Local governments are most concerned with the enforcement of the law through the court system (Mueller, Giacomazzi, & Stoddard, 2006). The data collected for this study focuses on the Dallas County Truancy Court. The court has recently recieved media attention for its procedures used to deal with truants.

The effectiveness and the legality of the procedures used by the Dallas County
Truancy Court are being challenged by three advocacy groups: Texas Appleseed,
National Center for Youth Law, and Disability Rights Texas (Ayala, Hallman,
Leszcynski, & Weiss, 2013). The complaint filed by the three advocacy groups on
behalf of eight Dallas County students specifically denunciates the Dallas County
Truancy Court's criminal prosecution of truancy and claims that the practices used are
"grossly disproportionate to the offending behavior... students are coerced and cajoled
into pleading guilty, are given substantial fines and must deal with inflexible attendance
policies" (Ayala, Hallman, Leszcynski, & Weiss, 2013, p.2A). Texas Appleseed is a
non-profit organization that promotes social and economic justice for all Texans;
however, the focus is on those more susceptible to the consequences of systematic

injustices such as children, immigrants, refugees, and individuals with mental disabilities. With the help of volunteer lawyers, Texas Appleseed is able to ensure that school discipline procedures do not fuel the school-to-prison pipeline and/or dropout rates (Texas Appleseed, 2013). Similar to Texas Appleseed, the National Center for Youth Law focuses on a segment of the population exposed to systematic injustices, low-income children. Low-income children are provided with the resources, life-skills, and guidance that they need to be successful in present and future educational settings and to make productive contributions to society (National Center for Youth Law, 2013). Disability Rights Texas ensures that Texans with disabilities are educated about their rights and afforded equal participation within society (Disability Rights Texas, 2013). The advocacy groups contend that the current attendance policies and tracking systems do not account for legitimate excuses or for individual personal situations. Dallas County Judge Clay Jenkins addresses the claims of the opponents of the Dallas County Truancy Court and attributes Dallas County's high number of truancy cases to the widely held belief that we must hold students and parents accountable. Jenkins states that his "focus is not on making the truancy court system a perfect or pleasant experience...[but,] to make it an effective experience so kids go back to school and graduate" (Ayala, Hallman, Leszcynski, & Weiss, 2013, p. 2A).

The coherence between these different goals for truancy programs is unclear, particularly as one examines the focus of truancy programs for schools, courts, counties,

and various federal initiatives. The main questions that this research seeks to address are: 1) What are the challenges faced in defining success when multiple organizations with multiple stakeholders are involved in a decentralized arrangement? 2) How is success of a truancy reduction program defined by school districts, school principals, parents, and judges? 3) Is the definition of success used by schools, districts, and the state the same as the definition of success used by key stakeholders and nonprofit organizations that work with truant students?

Purpose of the Study

Previous research on truancy focused on the reasons why truancy occurred (i.e. individual factors, family factors, and school factors) (Dustmann, Rajah, & Smith, 1997; Reid & Kendall, 1982; Sommer, 1985; Sommer & Nagel, 1991). Current research regarding truancy is concentrated on preventing the occurrence of truancy through different models of truancy reduction programs (Bazemore, Stinchcomb, & Leip, 2004; Byer & Kuhn, 2003; Dembo & Gulledge, 2009; Fantuzzo, Grim, & Hazan, 2005; Huck, 2011). The purpose of this research is to determine if all stakeholders engaged with truants hold the same definition of success. It is important to examine stakeholders' definitions of success in relation to truancy reduction programs because it may aid in determining how and why truancy reduction programs are effective. To meet this purpose, this research will explore how key stakeholders involved with the Dallas County Truancy Court define the success of truancy reduction programs. The definition

of success has the potential to directly impact student outcomes. If success is not defined the same among stakeholders, the baseline used for measuring student improvement will differ. Also, the way in which success is defined will influence how goals of truancy reduction programs are formulated and the elements included in the program. A common definition of success among stakeholders will also aid in the use of best practices and research across districts.

Significance of the Study

Currently, few studies have focused on the perceptions of stakeholders within truancy reduction programs and those that do lack generalizability and fail to include the perspectives of all of the major stakeholders such as parents, administrators, judges, and coordinators for non-profit organizations and agencies (Robinson, 2009; McDonald, 2009; Sherman, 2012). The perceptions of the stakeholders involved with any truancy reduction program are vital because they are at the frontline implementing or reinforcing the program, and the stakeholders' perceptions of the various components and the efficacy of the programs have the ability to impact student success (Robinson, 2009; McDonald, 2009; Sherman, 2012). This study seeks to identify and examine how key stakeholders involved with the Dallas County Truancy Court define the success of truancy reduction programs. In addition, this study seeks to use the theory of social construction to understand the process of meaning making among the major

stakeholders affiliated with the Dallas County Truancy Court: judges, parents, non-profit administrators, and principals.

CHAPTER 2

REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE AND THEORETICAL PERSPECTIVES

The research literature reviewed in this chapter focuses on exploring the rationale of compulsory education and educational reform and legislation, defining truancy, identifying the common characteristics among truants, and exploring how the theory of social construction can be used to understand the process of meaning making within the Dallas County Truancy Court. Questions that the research literature reviewed seeks to explore are: 1) How does the theory of social construction contribute to understanding stakeholders' definition of success in relation to truancy reduction programs? 2) How does the inconsistent definition of truancy across states and school districts impact the measurement of success of a truancy reduction program?

Social Constructions

This research project will explore the term "success" within the context of public education in the United States. It is theorized that the definition of "success" is a social construct that has been legitimized by educational reform and legislation and subsequently been transmitted back into the educational system through key stakeholders such as judges, principals, non-profit organizations, and parents through the processes of socialization and symbolic interactionism. Socialization refers to individuals' acquisition of the rules and norms appropriate for specific social settings (Parsons, 1951, 1955). Socialization primarily takes place through fundamental

institutions such as school, church, and family. Within the process of socialization, symbolic interactionism occurs which is the idea that humans develop meaning through interactions (Blumer, 1969). In other words, individuals act a certain way towards people and objects based on the meanings that have been ascribed to them through the process of socialization (Blumer, 1969). Once meaning has been ascribed to people or objects, language is a means by which individuals can negotiate and define or redefine these meanings. But Blumer (1969) argued that these meanings are not static, but that – individuals can reflect, assess and change their interpretations of the meaning of people and objects for a clearer understanding (Blumer, 1969).

While the concepts of socialization and symbolic interactionism are key concepts within the theory of social construction, there are other elements of the theory that must be examined to truly understand the development of constructs such as "success". The theory of social construction has become increasingly popular as researchers strive to investigate how and why certain meanings are ascribed to certain terms or objects. According to Crossley (2004), a social construct "means that we believe the phenomenon in question to be a product of our particular society or societies like it, rather than being something which is natural or inevitable, hard-wired into our biological constitution and invariant" (Crossely, 2004, p.296-97). In other words, the theory of social constructionism asserts that individuals and societies create their own realities based on their interactions with others. The theory of social construction is not

only concerned with the meaning but also with the processes that create those meanings (Crossley, 2004). The theory of social construction is complex so in an effort to be explicit about what the theory encompasses, it is necessary to explore the philosophical foundations of the theory of social construction, identify how previous research has used the theory to explain social phenomenon, and establish how the theory of social constructionism is relevant and will be utilized in the current study.

Philosophical Foundations of the Theory of Social Construction

Research within the social sciences has evolved through four different traditions: philosophical foundationalism, conflict theory that evolved into critical theory, hermeneutic, and social construction (Holstein & Gubrium, 2008). Having n understanding of this evolutionary process within the social sciences provides a clearer understanding of the theory of social construction. Philosophical foundationalism is seen as the "antithesis" of the theory of social construction. The tradition of philosophical foundationalism seeks to establish the rules and conditions under which valid knowledge can be produced. According to philosophical foundationalists, all legitimate knowledge must be scientifically and logically certain based on specific universal principles (Holstein & Gubrium, 2008). While the tradition of philosophical foundationalism staunchly adhered to scientific principles, the theory failed to account for sociohistorical and other contextual factors that inevitably impact social research, but is still alive under new names such as positivism, empiricism, and reliabilisim.

While positivists, empiricists, and reliabilists resolutely adhere to scientific doctrines, there is a faction of social researchers who believe that "not only is the quest to discover universal truths less useful than research that explores how we come by, now use, and/or might transcend our current conceptual orientations, but the quest to discover universal truths can also be downright harmful, because it encourages us to think fatalistically about the status quo and to naturalize aspects of our existence that are not inevitable and that ought to be challenged and changed" (Holstein & Gubrium, 2008, p. 15).

Philosophical foundationalism largely ignored the contextual factors that contributed to the formation of the so-called universal truths and definitions within the natural sciences so conflict theory was introduced by Karl Marx to challenge individuals to understand the social class structure. Karl Marx, a German philosopher, believed that the dominant order of society, whether it be economic, political, or ideological, was based on the concept of capitalism. Marx delineated between two major groups in society: the proletariat and the bourgeoisie. The means of production controlled the institutions and values within society; therefore, the working class or the proletariat were oppressed by the individuals in power, the bourgeoisie (Marx & Engels, 1888). In addition to controlling the profit that drives production, the bourgeoisie were able to permeate institutions and define values and norms within society. According to Marx, in order to challenge the existing structure and seek change, the proletariat would

have to acknowledge their shared experiences of oppression and contest the assumed structure of society. He termed this idea "class consciousness (Marx & Engels, 1888)."

Critical theorists built on the shortcomings of conflict theory to further explore the many ways that structure influences individuals as they define certain symbols, ideas, and/or objects. This idea is very evident within the theory of social constructionism. Critical theory recognizes the presence of a distinct class structure within capitalistic societies but goes beyond this recognition by trying to understand the persistence of capitalism and the lack of class consciousness that could lead to societal change (Marx & Engels, 1888; Holstein & Gubrium, 2008). One critical theorist that worked to dissect the process of "universal truths" was Bourdieu (1989). Bourdieu focused on the concepts of domination, socialization, and capital. Like Marx, Bourdieu acknowledged the powerful group's control over the resources. Individuals who were not in the dominate class accepted the social arrangements as legitimate and did not challenge the practices determining status, privilege, and other social rewards (Lareau, 2003). The dominant class rationalized those practices by suggesting they were the direct result of talent, intelligence, and effort. According to Bourdieu, individuals are socialized differently depending on their location within the societal class structure. Each individual has a habitus. Bourdieu defines the habitus as a set of internalized dispositions that determines what is comfortable and natural (Lareau, 2003). Differences in the habitus allow individuals to develop varying educational practices

and forms of value. The socialization that occurs determines what social practices are valued by each individual, in turn, this may influence why individuals ascribe different meanings to terms such as "success" (Lareau, 2003). The social position that an individual holds in society impacts the individual's potential to acquire certain types of capital such social, economic, cultural, and symbolic. Cultural capital is the non-financial assets that determine an individual's position within society such as education, clothing, and speech. Individuals from the dominant class will develop cultural capital that is recognized by the dominant institutions, while other individuals will not (Lareau, 2003). Society is able to determine the skills and behaviors that are valued. Bourdieu (1989) suggests that institutional constraints, such as class structures and the development of capital, also aid individuals in constructing their perception of reality (Bourdieu, 1989).

Construction of Ideas, Definitions, and Values

Those that do not hold power will undoubtedly define objects or terms differently than the dominant class that holds the economic, social, and political power; however, reflecting on its conflict theory roots, Bourdieu argues that it is only the dominant class' definition that will be legitimized by the institutions within society (1989). Once the dominant class' definition is legitimized, power is maintained and the status quo is upheld through the process of manipulation (Femia, 1975). Based on Bourdieu's (1989) theory of cultural capital it can logically be concluded that the

dominant class has the power to construct "success" to mean economic wealth or the acquisition of power for oneself. Bourdieu (1977) uses the term "symbolic violence" to refer to the domination of particular classes or groups of people (Bourdieu, 1977). This social phenomenon is also known as what Gramsci (1975) refers to as cultural hegemony (Femia, 1975). The practices of hegemony and symbolic violence subject lower-class individuals to feelings of inferiority, resentment, and humiliation yet the oppressed are complicit in their oppression by supporting the structures that maintain this inequality (Bourdieu, 1977). Karl Marx, a steadfast conflict theorist, was the first to point out the existing class structure identifying the owners of the means of production as the capitalists and those who only have their labor to sell as the proletariats. Marx offered a potential solution to the oppression of the underserved and believed that if the workers developed "class consciousness" they would truly understand the nature of their condition (Marx & Engels, 1888; Holstein & Gubrium, 2008). Critical theory strives to understand the lived experiences of individuals in a sociohistorical context; however, the theory is most interested in interpreting acts and symbols in an effort to understand the oppression of certain groups within society. Within this theory knowledge is power. It is only through critical understanding and critical discourse that true social change can be achieved (Holstein & Gubrium, 2008).

The hermeneutic tradition built on the ideas of critical theory by recognizing that awareness and critical understanding were the key to grasping the lived experiences that

were explored in the social sciences. Hermeneutics can be defined as a method or principle of interpretation (Holstein & Gubrium, 2008). Willhelm Dilthey, a German philosopher and historian, broadened the range of the field by moving it from the analysis of ancient texts to developing a general philosophical argument concerning the necessary differences of interpretation in the social and natural sciences (Holstein & Gubrium, 2008). Dilthey asserted that analysis within the social sciences could not be mechanistic and causal due to the way that social life manifests itself. As a result, Dilthey believed that it was only through interpretive understanding that one could grasp the complexity of lived experience. Dilthey also acknowledged that sociohistorical conditions and contextual factors influenced individuals' understanding (Holstein & Gubrium, 2008).

The hermeneutic tradition laid the foundation for what became known as the theory of social construction. One of the hallmark works that served to solidify the theory of social construction as a viable empirical perspective for the social sciences was Peter Berger's and Thomas Luckmann's The Social Construction of Reality (1966) (Holstein & Gubrium, 2008). Berger and Luckmann (1966) focused on the importance of social knowledge in the construction of reality. The authors steer clear of making ontological claims and concentrate on epistemological claims surrounding the study of knowledge and justified belief. Berger and Luckmann (1966) encouraged the investigation of the "taken-for-granted reality-constructing processes of everyday life"

(Holstein & Gubrium, 2008, p.4; Berger & Luckmann, 1966). They sought to explore the rules and strategies that aided in the development of constructing reality.

Essentially, Berger and Luckmann challenged individuals to question how their reality became reality (Holstein & Gubrium, 2008).

While the theory of social construction proved to be very beneficial to the field of social science, there are still those that are skeptical about the theory's usefulness and applicability in social research settings (Holstein & Gubrium, 2008). The main critiques of the theory of social construction generally derive from realist and relativist perspectives. The realist perspective is concerned with depicting reality accurately and is not concerned with how researchers construct their understandings (Holstein & Gubrium, 2008). Like positivists, realists just assume that the findings are true based on scientific evidence or theory; however, the theory of social construction would argue that scientific theory itself is a social construct (Holstein & Gubrium, 2008). On the other hand, relativists believe that no definitive truth exists and that there are multiple realities to represent social phenomenon. Scholars such as Gergen (1978;1996), Hacking (1999), Hammerseley (1992), and Rorty (1979) believe that the theory of social constructionism is not a viable method of research because there will always be multiple realities with each side claiming legitimacy, however, the theory of social construction is not concerned with universal truths or definitions (Holstein & Gubrium, 2008). The theory of social construction is most concerned with identifying the multiple realities and exploring the social processes that aid in constructing the multiple realities (Holstein & Gubrium. 2008).

Factors that Contribute to the Development of Success as a Social Construct

The literature on the theory of social construction indicates that institutionalization and personal experience have a significant influence on how individuals ascribe meaning to objects, symbols, and ideas (Berger & Luckmann, 1966; Gergen, 1996; Sismondo, 1993). The proceeding section of the paper will examine each factor as it relates to how stakeholders within the Dallas County Truancy Court may ascribe meaning to the term "success".

Institutionalization

Sismondo (1993) asserts that institutions, such as the local, state, and national government, are not naturally occurring products of Earth, but instead are man-made. Through institutions, the process of institutionalization occurs as a result of what is known as habitualization. Habitualization is evident when actions and behaviors become routine and are controlled through sanctions, such as legislation.

Educational Legislation

The social construction of success through a sociohistorical process at the legislative level impacts the implementation of compulsory education policies in ways that influence stakeholders' understanding of success. This section of the paper presents legislation used to provide a framework for defining success in the educational setting.

Compulsory education refers to the laws that require children to obtain an education by attending public school. This law was expanded to include private school and homeschooling as a substitute for a public education (Ornstein & Levine, 1984). While each state has a law regarding compulsory education, the laws differ from state to state regarding the length of time that children must receive a state-approved education. For example, in Mississippi and Tennessee, the compulsory education age is 6 to 17 years of age, while in California, Hawaii, Ohio, Texas, Utah, and Wisconsin the compulsory education age is 6 to 18 years of age (Ornstein & Levine, 1984).

Initially, education in the United States was deemed only for the elite and wealthy. These individuals had the financial means to attend private institutions and were seen as having a higher intellectual capacity and understanding of the norms and values needed to succeed in that educational setting (Ornstein & Levine, 1984). However, in 1918, the government mandated a public education for children of all social classes. Along with the mandate, the National Education Association's (NEA) Commission on Reorganization of Secondary Education developed a curriculum that was designed to sort students into different career paths (Ornstein & Levine, 1984). The curriculum included the following categories:

- 1. College preparatory or academic program
- 2. Commercial or business program
- 3. Industrial, vocational, home economics, and agricultural program

 A modified academic program for terminal students (Ornstein & Levine, 1984, p.169-170).

The Coleman Report (1966) and A Nation at Risk (1983) influenced the development of the ideology behind NEA's secondary education curriculum. Both reports have documented the inequities and issues within the public education system and as a result, defining success became a priority to the United States government particularly as international comparisons became the norm and the U.S. was engaged in an "achievement" race with the USSR. The acknowledgement of problems such as segregation, growing achievement gaps within national subpopulations and internationally, and accountability within the United States public education system led law makers to create more educational options for parents to choose from such as homeschooling, youchers, and charter schools (Burke & Sheffield, 2013).

While parents may be provided with more options, students are left to find their way through a defective educational system (Guare & Cooper, 2003). Guare and Cooper (2003), argue that some students may not understand the requirements in regards to compulsory education and truancy laws; however as rational consumers of education, there are also some students that are making a calculated choice to become truant due to the differing norms and values that are rewarded in public educational institutions (Guare & Cooper, 2003). For example, passing and scoring high marks on standardized assessments is highly valued in the U.S. educational system. Students that

do not perform well on standardized assessments may make a calculated choice to not be present on test days or to not have any part of a system that rewards students primarily based on test scores. After compulsory attendance, it became apparent that due to social and institutional factors, some students would need additional assistance to achieve at proficient levels and be successful in school.

Elementary and Secondary Education Act (1965)

On April 9, 1965, President Lyndon B. Johnson valiantly declared war on poverty by ensuring the passage of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA). Section 201 of the ESEA clearly acknowledged the rationale of the legislation by stating that:

In recognition of the special educational needs of low-income families and the impact that concentrations of low-income families have on the ability of local educational agencies to support adequate educational programs, the Congress hereby declares it to be the policy of the United States to provide financial assistance... to local educational agencies serving areas with concentrations of children from low-income families to expand and improve their educational programs by various means (including preschool programs) which contribute to meeting the special educational needs of educationally deprived children (Elementary and Secondary Education Act, 1965, Section 201).

The premise of the act was that equal access to education would break the cycle of poverty and in turn, create more productive citizens. The legislation deduced that students from low-income families would need more educational services and resources than students from middle income or high income families because their parents do not have the ability to afford basic needs, early education programs, or enrichments activities. These additional educational services, resources, and supports were provided by a special funding source created by Title I, Part A of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act. "Title I: Improving the Academic Achievement of the Disadvantaged" provided funds and other federal formula grants for numerous programs to be developed to address issues that predominantly impact low income students such as truancy and substance abuse (Elementary and Secondary Education Act, 1965). Programs such as special pre-school, after school activities, summer enrichment, and tutorials in math and reading are specifically designed for at-risk youth. According to Section 1432 of Title I, Part D:

The term 'at-risk,' when used with respect to a child, youth, or student, means a school aged individual who is at-risk of academic failure, has a drug or alcohol problem, is pregnant or is a parent, has come into contact with the juvenile justice system in the past, is at least 1 year behind the expected grade level for the age of the individual, has limited English proficiency, is a gang member, has

dropped out of school in the past, or has a high absenteeism rate at school (Elementary and Secondary Education Act, 1965)

To qualify for Title I funds 5% of the student population within the district of a local education agency must be categorized as low income. Local education agencies then funnel funds to schools that have a high population of low income students. Currently, there are over 56,000 schools that participate in the program (Center for Education Statistics, 2013). Title I funds that are received by schools are typically allocated to create specific programs to target at-risk youth; however, if at least 40% of the school population is considered to be low-income, schools are allowed to create school-wide programs to target all students (Center for Education Statistics, 2013).

While this legislation did not explicitly define the term "success" it strongly insinuated that for an "at-risk" child to be successful there would have to be extra supports, programs, and resources available. ESEA did however construct "at-risk" youth as intellectually inferior and potentially problematic in traditional educational settings by setting them apart from their peers. The Coleman Report (1966) further developed and publicized the construction of at-risk youth as inferior.

Coleman Report (1966)

Shortly after the passage of the ESEA, the United States Office of Education commissioned research to ensure that educational institutions were conforming to the requirements of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. The act called for equal treatment

regardless of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. In 1966, James S. Coleman, a sociologist affiliated with John's Hopkins University, issued a report that totaled more than 700 pages entitled "Equality of Educational Opportunity," best known as The Coleman Report. The report concluded that the student's family background, socioeconomic status, racial composition of the schools, and the student's perceived control in determining their future were far more related to academic achievement rather than the quality of a student's school (Coleman, 1966). The report led to debates over the most efficient use of resources to assist disadvantaged students, Coleman was widely criticized by educators as legislators took his report to justify cuts in education to urban schools and also used it to support their culture of poverty views.

In essence, Coleman (1966) was advocating for the desegregation of schools that had high minority concentrations and proposed integration by bussing students to schools that had lower levels of minority students. Years later, Coleman would withdraw his advocacy for bussing due to the social phenomenon known as "white flight" in which white families moved to suburban areas to avoid desegregated schools. This movement decreased the chances of achieving a racial balance within public educational institutions (Kiviat, 2001). The report contradicted the rationale and strategies used by Lyndon B. Johnson to declare war on poverty by suggesting that special programs and racial integration would not improve academic achievement.

Instead, Coleman (1966) and other researchers that have reanalyzed the initial data

suggest that growth in academic achievement can only be accomplished by raising the family's overall income (Kiviat, 2001). These findings provided the impetus for those opposed to social welfare programs to contest school programs aimed at helping "atrisk" youth. According to Coleman (1966), the structural or institutional factors were not to blame for the lack of achievement among minority youth, but instead individual social factors were the culprit. So, instead of looking at the structure of institutions, minority youth and their families were labeled as inferior and blamed for their failures (Coleman, 1966; Kiviat, 2001). The Coleman Report highlighted the fact that minority youth were achieving at lower levels; however, seventeen years later, "A Nation at Risk" (1983) concluded that all students were achieving at lower levels when compared to other developed countries (The National Commission on Excellence in Education, 1983).

A Nation at Risk (1983)

President Ronald Reagan created The National Commission on Excellence in Education in 1983, to examine scholarly research and data on the quality of teaching and learning in public and private K-12 and post-secondary educational institutions (Jorgensen & Hoffman, 2003). In 1983, the 18-member commission issued a ground breaking report entitled "A Nation at Risk" that argued that:

Part of what is at risk is the promise first made on this continent: All, regardless of race or class or economic status, are entitled to a fair chance and to the tools

for developing their individual powers of mind and spirit to the utmost. This promise means that all children by virtue of their own efforts, competently guided, can hope to attain the mature and informed judgment needed to secure gainful employment, and to manage their own lives, thereby serving not only their own interests but also the progress of society itself" (The National Commission on Excellence in Education, 1983).

The report analyzed the academic performance and achievement of United States students and concluded that it was steadily declining. For example, the commission found that nationally about 13% of all 17-year olds were considered to be functionally literate, however, among minority youth that number increased to 40%. Students were consistently exhibiting the inability to develop and apply higher order thinking skills (The National Commission on Excellence in Education, 1983). The report indicated that only about 60% of 17-year olds in the U.S. could draw conclusions based on written texts, that over 60% of students could not solve mathematic problems involving multiple steps, and only 20% were capable of writing a persuasive essay (The United States Commission on Excellence in Education, 1983). These trends were not only found at secondary institutions, they were also quite evident at the post-secondary institutions. Post-secondary students had declining Scholastic Aptitude Test (SAT) scores and an increased demand for remedial courses at 4-year institutions, specifically in mathematics (The United States Commission on Excellence in Education, 1983). The

report attributed the findings to a diluted curriculum that was void of measurable standards (The United States Commission on Excellence in Educcation, 1983). To ensure lasting reform within the U.S. educational system, the commission suggested that teachers and administrators should demand "the best effort and performance from all students, whether they are gifted or less able, affluent or disadvantaged, whether destined for college, the farm, or industry" (The United States Commission on Excellence in Education, 1983). "A Nation at Risk" raised the consciousness of individuals involved in the educational process and set in motion the construction of standards based reform and achievement testing (Jorgensen & Hoffman, 2003). During that time, there were no established accountability mechanisms used within states, districts, or schools to measure student success or growth. It was not until the passage of the Improving America's Schools Act (1994) that the concept of accountability was mentioned and that content and performance standards were developed to measure student achievement.

Improving America's Schools Act of (1994)

The passing of the Improving America's Schools Act (IASA) was an answer to the National Commission on Excellence in Education's call to action. The act reauthorized the ESEA of 1965 and mandated that all states develop content standards, performance standards, assessments aligned with the standards to measure student achievement, and accountability systems to monitor individual schools' levels of

achievement (Jorgensen & Hoffman, 2003). IASA promoted higher levels of student achievement for all students and endorsed five guiding principles:

- 1. High standards for all students
- 2. A focus on teaching and learning
- 3. Partnerships among families, communities and schools
- 4. Flexibility coupled with responsibility for student performance
- 5. Resources targeted to areas of greatest needs (Jorgensen & Hoffman, 2003) IASA did not strive to define student success, but attempted to identify the factors that needed to be present within educational institutions in order for students to achieve success. It was the Goals 2000: Educate America Act (1994) that clearly stated specific goals that needed to be met to determine student success.

Goals 2000: Educate America Act (1994)

This act was designed to work in conjunction with IASA to raise the achievement levels of all students by providing additional resources to states and by developing higher expectations for students (Jorgensen & Hoffman, 2003). The act stated that by the year 2000:

- 1. All children in America will start school ready to learn.
- 2. The high school graduation rate will increase to at least 90 percent.
- 3. All students will leave grades 4,8, and 12 having demonstrated competency over challenging subject matter including English, mathematics, science, foreign

languages, civics and government, economics, the arts, history, and geography, and every school in America will ensure that all students learn to use their minds well, so they may be prepared for responsible citizenship, further learning, and productive employment in our nation's modern economy.

- 4. United States students will be first in the world in mathematics and science achievement. Every adult American will be literate and will possess the knowledge and skills necessary to compete in a global economy and exercise the rights and responsibilities of citizenship.
- 5. Every school in the United States will be free of drugs, violence, and the unauthorized presence of firearms and alcohol and will offer a disciplined environment conductive to learning.
- 6. The nation's teaching force will have access to programs for the continued improvement of their professional skills and the opportunity to acquire the knowledge and skills needed to instruct and prepare all American students for the next century.
- 7. Every school will promote partnerships that will increase parental involvement and participation in promoting the social, emotional, and academic growth of children (Jorgensen & Hoffman, 2003).

The ideas of standards based reform and achievement testing were now becoming ingrained into the U.S. educational system. Ideas of what defines a successful student

were slowly being constructed. According to the frameworks set in place by IASA and Goals 2000, a successful student comes to school ready to learn, is literate, graduates from high school, and exhibits competency over subject matter in core classes as evidenced by achievement test scores (Jorgensen & Hoffman, 2003).

No Child Left Behind (2001)

In an effort to fully understand the implications and rationale associated with No Child Left Behind (NCLB) in regards to defining the construct of success, it is necessary to look at educational reform prior to NCLB. No Child Left Behind (NCLB), another reauthorization of EASA was developed with the notion that "every child in America – regardless of ethnicity, income, or background – [could] achieve high standards" (United States Department of Education, 2003). The law was novel in that funding was now tied to the accountability expectations that were initially required by IASA. NCLB also mandated that the Adequate Yearly Progress (AYP) be measured as another form of accountability. AYP must be measured by the following individual subgroups: students with disabilities, economically disadvantaged students, each of the 5 race/ethnicity groups, and students who are limited English proficient (LEP). More importantly for this research project, are the other indicators used to determine AYP such as graduation rates, attendance rates, retention rates, and completion of advanced placement and college preparatory courses (Jorgensen & Hoffman, 2003). Upon the initial passage of NCLB, the success of a student was primarily determined by state

standardized assessments. Because such an emphasis was placed on standardized assessments, states began to teach to the test and lower standards so that students would score at proficient levels on the standardized assessment and so that the school could meet AYP (Hayes 2008; Peterson & West; 2003). These practices contradicted the intended outcome of the legislation, thereby necessitating a reform of NCLB to ensure that reliable mechanisms were being used to measure student success.

Reform of No Child Left Behind (2010)

The reform of NCLB still focused on creating equity for all students using standards based reform and accountability; however, there were more supports provided for schools to meet AYP and achieve growth and progress (Hayes, 2008). In the initial version of the bill, meeting AYP meant that schools had to increase the number of students performing at a proficient level by 10%. The 2010 reform of NCLB takes into account individual school-wide progress toward closing the achievement gap and individual student growth over a period of time (Hayes, 2008). The framework of NCLB suggests that a successful student can be defined as one who attends school regularly, scores at a proficient level on state standardized tests, graduates in four years, is college or career ready, and completes some advanced placement, gifted and talented, or college preparatory courses for those focused on attending a 4-year university (Hayes, 2008).

How is Success Defined Based on Previous Educational Law?

The rules for defining success that emerged from previous legislation were a factor in how truancy reduction programs currently define success. Based on the initial reform efforts of compulsory education, success was defined as whether or not a student was physically present at school. The national compulsory education law does not state that a student is required to be engaged, learn, or graduate and pursue further education. It simply states that a student must attend school between a specified age range to be in accordance with the law. Federal law does not mandate that students achieve any of the goals stated in IASA, Goals 2000, and NCLB. Since the federal government cannot force states to adopt these guidelines, the federal government uses funding as an incentive to entice states to go along. Ultimately, the only thing that the federal government can mandate is that students attend school.

After realizing that our nation was at risk and acknowledging that U.S. students were lagging behind other students in developed countries, the IASA and Goals 2000 laws were developed to make sure that there were clear standards for measuring student academic achievement and growth such as graduation rates and standardized assessments aligned to predetermined standards (Jorgensen & Hoffman, 2003). The introduction of NCLB built on the ideas of IASA and Goals 2000, however, the bill called for more stringent guidelines for measuring success. NCLB introduced the idea of AYP which allowed for individual student, school growth, and progress to be

measured. Results were broken down by subgroups (5 major racial groups, LEP, disability, and economically disadvantaged) in the following categories: performance levels on standardized assessments in reading and math, graduation rates, and attendance rates. According to school reform legislation, success can be defined as meeting proficient levels on math and reading standardized assessments, attending school regularly, and ultimately graduating (Jorgensen & Hoffman, 2003). States can choose to ignore these standards and opt out of NCLB. They forgo substantial funding in the process, but several states have chosen this approach arguing that these reform efforts are detrimental to their students, and that districts can do a better job of developing contextually appropriate interventions without federal intervention. Some states that have opted out of NCLB include Texas, Colorado, Florida, Georgia, Indiana, Kentucky, Massachusetts, Oklahoma, and Tennessee.

Personal Experience

Gergen (196) contends that individuals' social constructions are at times based on private, personal experience. Berger and Luckmann (1966) encouraged the investigation of the "taken-for-granted reality-constructing processes of everyday life" and acknowledged that individuals create their own realities based on their experience and interactions with other individuals (Holstein & Gubrium, 2008, p.4; Berger & Luckmann, 1966).

Can the term "success" be considered a social construct?

Success can be defined as "a degree or measure of succeeding" or "a favorable or desired outcome." (Webster Online Dictionary, n.d.). Effectiveness can be understood as "the degree to which objectives are achieved and the extent to which targeted problems are solved", therefore, throughout this paper the terms "success" and "effectiveness" will be used interchangeably (Business Online Dictionary, n.d.). Defining student success equates to determining if students are effectively meeting performance and content standards as prescribed by federal, state, and local legislation.

A recent piece of evidence of the social construction of success is a study conducted by Fassertt (2001) in which she facilitated group interviews among two categories of student participants: students enrolled in an introductory speech course and graduate teaching assistants teaching the introductory speech course. The main goal of the research was to understand the processes by which educational success and failure were constructed and the impact that had on educational reform. Overall, the researcher found that participants' definitions of success and non-success varied and therefore, concluded that success was socially constructed. Fassett (2001) explored success as an internal and external construction. An internal construction of success was characterized by participants' perceptions of whether or not they were achieving their individual educational goals, while an external construction of success was indicated by the use of pre-established criteria to measure (i.e. "progress toward a degree plan, high

marks in class, satisfying a given teacher or teachers, [and] finding employment upon graduation") (Fassett, 2001, p.7). Participants who regarded success as an internal construction provided the following commentary and definitions of success:

I have a problem with some of the definitions of being successful because a student's goal may not necessarily be to get a degree...I think it's an individual goal-oriented thing (Fassett, 2001, p. 4).

It is like to me individual. If you go to class, you know, maybe like once or twice a week, get the basic idea, and then study on your own and cut class, you pull off like B's. I mean, maybe you can do average without even working hard. That might be your success, you know (Fassett, 2001, p.5).

[Being a successful student means] walking away and actually learning something. I have had classes where I pulled off an A, and I don't know jack by the time I leave...I haven't learned anything, and to me, what good does having a degree or diploma in hand if by the time you get out in the real world, you are completely lost (Fassett, 2001, p.5)?

"I think its like different for everybody like they – one might define success differently as being content, or more the outside goals or something" (Fassett, 2001, p.5).

Participants who viewed success as an external construction provided the following commentary and definitions of success:

I derive the word success from what I know from the system. I said what's successful, well, doing well, and where do I trace that back to? Well, I trace that back to society and what's successful in society" (Fassett, 2001, p.6).

I think it's really a matter of having that piece of paper saying you've done this and you've done that" (Fassett, 2001, p. 6).

...the way the grading system is set up, it, it is pretty much just doing what you're asked to do (Fassett, 2001, p. 6).

Students either categorized the construct of success as the achievement of individual educational goals or meeting goals that were predetermined by institutions within the educational system (Fassett, 2001). Those that defined success as more of an individual activity ascribe to the belief of most Americans in the educational system, which is that we live in a meritocracy and individuals have the power to determine their future (Fassett, 2001). Those that defined success as predetermined by institutions saw themselves as outside of the educational system and not having any power to influence

how success was defined and determine their future. Fassett (2001) concluded that the construction of definitions serve to reinforce the status quo and slow educational reform (Fassett, 2001).

The goal of this research is to use the framework provided by the theory of social constructionism to determine if the term "success" is a shared construct among stakeholders involved with truancy reduction programs. If varying definitions of success exist among stakeholders, then not only identifying these definitions is important, but also understanding the processes that create those different definitions is vital. If there are varying definitions of success among stakeholders, the research will also aim to classify if they are external or internal constructions. If the stakeholder's definition is constructed using federal law or some type of formal institutional policy, then it can be considered an external construction; however, if the stakeholder's definition is constructed by personal experiences, biases, or beliefs it can be considered an internal construct. It is possible that through the interaction with stakeholders, an interpretive understanding of the process regarding the construction of the term "success" may be reached.

Defining Truancy

Inconsistent definitions of truancy across states have impacted the data regarding the occurrence of truancy and the effect of truancy reduction programs.

Developing consistent definitions of truancy is vital because No Child Left Behind

(2001) requires that states report truancy rates (McGillvary, 2006). If definitions of truancy are inconsistent across states it will be difficult to compare the occurrence of truancy across states, as well as, the efficacy of truancy reduction programs (Baker, Sigmon, & Nugent, 2001; McGillvary, 2006).

The general definition of truancy is an unexcused absence from school by a child who is required to comply with compulsory education laws (Zinth, 2005). This general definition is consistent across states; however, the number and time frame within which these absences must occur fluctuates. For example, in Texas a habitual truant is classified as a student who does not attend school on ten or more days or parts of days within a six-month period within the same school year or on three or more days or parts of days within a four-week period (Zinth, 2005). Colorado deems a habitual truant as a student who has accumulated ten or more unexcused absences during only one school year. In contrast, the states of Nevada, California, and Pennsylvania declare a student habitually truant if they have three or more unapproved absences within one school year (Zinth, 2005). In comparison, the states of Arizona and Wyoming consider a student habitually truant if they have five or more unexcused absences. Florida and Illinois provide their students with more leeway in their attendance policies. Florida allows fifteen unexcused absences within ninety calendar days before a student is declared habitually truant, while Illinois allows eighteen unexcused absences before a student is labeled as a chronic truant (Zinth, 2005). In most cases, it is generally

understood that habitually truant students are at a greater risk of becoming a high school dropout. A high school dropout can be defined as a high school student who abandons pursuing academic objectives that are necessary for graduation from a secondary educational institution (U.S. Department of Education, 2013). It is vital that the issue of truancy is addressed to prevent students from completely disengaging from the educational process.

One major issue concerning the definition of truancy is what constitutes an unexcused absence. Parents may excuse an absence for their child, but school officials may not accept the excuse. Further issues arise when determining truancy among public and private schools. Are procedures for reporting truancy rates different for public and private educational institutions? Another discrepancy in reporting truancy rates may occur when disciplinary actions take students out of the educational setting. Are absences due to suspension and expulsion excused? (Bye, Alvarez, Haynes, & Sweigart, 2010).

Reid and Kendall (1982) previously explored the literature on truancy and investigated the definitional discrepancies that existed concerning truancy and the difficulty in obtaining accurate attendance records. Variations in attendance rates between schools and geographic areas suggested that factors such as social, institutional, psychological, and familial factors may contribute to truancy. Reid (1982) suggests exploring the issue of truancy further by developing a universal definition of

truancy and evaluating how schools may impact truancy and the potential effects of employment on attendance rates (Reid, 1982).

Who are Truants?

Throughout the process of developing and implementing truancy reduction programs, it is important to recognize what makes truants different from non-truants. Research has found that school, family, and personal factor increase the likelihood that students will become truant (Bell et. al., 1994; Corville-Smith, 1998). School factors include poor relationships with teachers, vague and inconsistent attendance policies, and inappropriate academic placement due to standardized testing or tracking. Family factors that have been found to increase the likelihood of truancy include large family size, poverty, homelessness, transportation, single-parent home, lack of parental involvement, caring for younger siblings, family discord, and working to support the family. Personal factors such as values ascribed to education, mental and physical health, self-esteem, poor peer relationships, and poor academic performance can also influence a student's decision to become truant (Fornwalt, 1947; Eastwold, 1989; Rohrman, 1993; Bell, Rosen, & Dyblacht, 1994; Dustmann, Rajah, & Smith, 1997; Corville-Smith, et. al., 1998; Baker, Sigmon, & Nugent, 2001; Garrison, 2006; Southwell, 2006; Heilbrunn, 2007; Hallinan, 2008).

Sommer and Nagel (1991) sought to identify more distinguishing characteristics between truant and non-truants. Although his sample size is small, it does suggest some

useful finding. Data from the school records of 25 truant eighth graders and 25 non-truant eighth graders was collected. The data matched the two groups of students based on age, grade, gender, and socioeconomic level. The study examined the parental marital status, number of siblings, number of previous addresses, and time in the district. Sommer and Nagel (1991) concluded that truant students are "less likely to live with both parents, had more siblings, and scored lower in academic ability and achievement (Sommer & Nagel, 1991, p.379)." Veenstra, Lindenberg, Tinga, & Ormel (2010) found additional factors to be related to the occurrence of truancy such as being a boy and early pubertal development (Veenstra, Lindenberg, Tinga, & Ormel, 2010).

Zhang, Wilson, Katsiyannis, Barrett, Ju, & Wu (2010) also sought to examine the characteristics of truancy offenders in the juvenile justice system by analyzing data covering a cohort of delinquent youth between the years of 1981-1988. Zhang et.al. (2010) found that race was associated with truancy. There were higher rates of repeated truancy among African American youth as opposed to their white counterparts. Zhang et.al. (2010) attributed the higher rate of truancy among African Americans to school, peer, family, and societal factors. This study, as well as the previous studies, highlighted the need for multifaceted intervention techniques to address the problem of truancy (Zhang, Wilson, Katsiyannis, Barrett, Ju, & Wu, 2010).

What is Success?

The purpose of this research project is to determine how key stakeholders involved with the Dallas County Truancy Court define success within truancy reduction programs. The research project will focus on determining how individual programs define success, as well as, how the success of students is defined since the two are undeniably linked; one cannot occur without the other. According to the Webster's Dictionary, "success" can be defined as "a degree or measure of succeeding" or "a favorable or desired outcome."

CHAPTER 3

METHODS

Chapter three focuses on the research design and the methods used to obtain data to answer the following research questions: 1) What are the challenges faced in defining success when multiple organizations with multiple stakeholders are involved in a decentralized arrangement? 2) How is success of a truancy reduction program defined by school districts, school principals, parents, and judges? 3) Is the definition of success used by schools, districts, and the state the same as the definition of success used by key stakeholders and nonprofit organizations that work with truant students? The methods chapter contains nine sections. The beginning of the chapter describes the specific research design and explains why this research design is most suitable for answering the research questions, as well as identifies the role of the researcher and any potential biases that may be present. The early part of the chapter also examines the Dallas County Truancy Court and the six school districts that are serviced by the Court. This section highlights the unique characteristics present within each school district and among their student populations. The latter part of the chapter focuses on the characteristics of the specific population used in the study and how they were selected for participation in the study; and identifies ethical issues and the measures that were taken to make sure that the participants' rights were protected. Additionally, this section

describes the specific interview protocol used to collect data and provides a rationale for the specific questions used in the interview protocol and provides the procedures used during the data collection process. The last part of the chapter focuses on the specific procedures used to analyze the data. The ninth section explores the concepts of reliability, validity, and generalizability and identifies how this study addressed each of those issues. Lastly, any limitations that were present within the study are identified.

Research Design

This study determined if the major stakeholders within the Dallas County

Truancy Court had the same definition of success. To make that determination, a case
study analysis was conducted to determine if the definition of success varied across
organizational levels (i.e. parents, schools, courts, and non-profit organizations) of a
single organizational field centered on the Dallas County Truancy Court. The Dallas
County Truancy Court is one truancy reduction program that consists of multiple
stakeholders and organizations working towards a common goal: to reduce the
occurrence of truancy. Qualitative methods such as semi-structured interviews were the
most effective strategy because it allowed the researcher to explore the meaning that
participants ascribed to a particular term, specifically "success" through the use of
open-ended questioning. It also provided the researcher with a rich source of
information that could yield a broader context which facilitated the interpretation of the
analysis (Creswell, 2003). While quantitative survey research necessitates

predetermined standardized categories, qualitative research, specifically the type that employs open-ended interview questions does not constrain the scope of participant's responses and allowed the researcher to develop an authentic understanding of the participants' perception or understanding of a social phenomenon (Patton, 2002). Lofland (1997) exemplified this view when he stated that "To capture participants' in their own terms one must learn their categories for rendering explicable and coherent the flux of raw reality. That, indeed, is the first principle of qualitative analysis" (Lofland, 1997, p.7). Simply put, throughout the interview process, it was important to note the external and internal factors that impacted and influenced participants' constructions of the definition of success.

The participants for the research project were selected based on their affiliation with the Dallas County Truancy Court. Judges, principals, and non-profit organizations were contacted through email and/or by phone to solicit participation; however, the parent participation was solicited through referrals by the court case manager and non-profit organizations. The researcher conducted a total of fifty-nine interviews that consisted of four judges, twenty parents, thirteen non-profits, and twenty-two school principals. There were two stakeholders who declined to participate: a judge with the Dallas County Truancy Court and the Mesquite Independent School District declined to allow any of their principals to participate. The interviews were recorded and were transcribed by a third party. The interviews took place at the Dallas County Truancy

Court, the site of the non-profit organization, and the respective schools of each of the principals.

Role of the Researcher

This researcher acknowledged an affiliation with one of the districts that are serviced by the Dallas County Truancy Court. I have worked at a high school within the district for four years as a teacher. I continue to be employed through this district and develop intervention strategies for truant students. Multiple students in my classes have been referred to the Dallas County Truancy Court and I have been exposed to their viewpoint regarding the process, as well as been privy to the outcomes associated with those students. The interactions with those students have helped to inform my view and understanding of the Dallas County Truancy Court. The principal interviewed at my specific school was not my supervising principal and one with which I had minimal direct contact, so there was no perceived power differential when gathering data.

The bias this affiliation may represent was monitored by using an interview protocol, focusing on the research questions throughout the interview, and being cognizant of my expectations and preferences by jotting down my preconceived expectations and biases and noting where there were gaps. The bias was also monitored by using triangulation. The participants were emailed the transcribed interview and were allowed the option of clarifying any of the data obtained during the interview (Creswell, 2003).

The Dallas County Truancy Court

The Dallas County Truancy Court was established in 2001 and services Dallas, Garland, Mesquite, Richardson, and Sunnyvale Independent School Districts and the Texas Can Charter School. There are other districts that are a part of Dallas County; however, they have elected not to participate in the Dallas County Truancy Court. There are five courts located in various parts of Dallas County in order to be accessible to students, parents, and administrators. A judge and a case manager have been appointed to each Court. Student services administrators, community liaisons, truancy officers, or other district and/or school personnel work directly with the Court. Each district is required to adhere to Texas state law regarding truancy, but has flexibility in the way in which their truancy reduction program is administered. Chapter 25 of the Texas Education Code states that districts must file a case on a child if that child misses ten or more days or parts of days within a 6-month period or if a child misses three or more days or parts of days within a four week period (2 Tex. Ed. Code § 25.94). In addition to the filing, districts are required to file a statement that documents the interventions that have been tried with the student prior to the filing (2 Tex. Ed. Code § 25.91). The mandatory interventions are the area in which schools have flexibility and can uniquely

design the interventions to fit their student population. Dallas County is the only county to have a specialized truancy court that solely hears truancy cases. The mission of the Dallas County Truancy Courts "is to hear cases timely and ensure consistency in disposition and enforcement of the truancy court orders."

(http://www.dallascounty.org/department/countyclerk/truancylocations.php). Dallas,

Garland, Mesquite, Richardson, and Sunnyvale Independent School Districts and the Texas Can Charter School each have unique challenges, circumstances, and student populations, so the following sections will individually examine each of the six districts serviced by the Dallas County Truancy Court (See table 1.1, 1.2, &1.3)

Dallas Independent School District

Dallas Independent School District (DISD) is the 14th largest school district in the United States and provides education to approximately 157,575 students. DISD has 227 campuses with 40 being designated as high schools that provide education to 38,018 students (www.dallasisd.org). Over half of the student population is Hispanic (68.7%), about a quarter of the student population is African American (24.4%), and 4.7% is White (Texas Education Agency, 2012). Over three-quarters (86.1%) of the student population is categorized as economically disadvantaged and over half (61.8%) is considered to be at-risk (Texas Education Agency, 2012). According to the council of the Great City Schools, DISD is "one of the nation's fastest improving districts" (www.dallasisd.org). DISD is also well known for its magnet schools such as Yvonne

A. Ewell Townview Center's School of Science and Engineering and School for the Talented and Gifted. In addition to the many magnet schools, DISD has also opened three early college high schools that allow students to earn dual credits. DISD recognizes the importance of effective instruction and academic achievement and has a core belief that at-risk students should achieve at the same rate as non-at risk students (www.dallasisd.org). DISD's ultimate goal is to "have the highest college and career ready percentage graduates of any large, urban district in the nation" (www.dallasisd.org). DISD is currently in the process of completing a \$1.35 billion building program to build new facilities and renovate old ones to improve the students' learning environments (www.dallasisd.org). The overall attendance rate in DISD is 95.2%, which is 0.5% below the state attendance rate (Texas Education Agency, 2012). The 4-year graduation rate is 77.3%, which is 8.6% below the state graduation rate (Texas Education Agency, 2012).

Garland Independent School District

Garland Independent School District (GISD) is the second largest district in Dallas County and the twelfth largest district in the state of Texas. GISD has 71 campuses that provide an education to 58,000 students. There are seven high schools that provide an education to 17,309 students (www.garlandisd.net). About half of the student population is Hispanic (48.8%), 17.1% African American, 23.4% White, and

8% Asian (Texas Education Agency, 2012). Over half (60.6%) of the student population is categorized as economically disadvantaged and almost half (45.4%) is considered to be at-risk (Texas Education Agency, 2012). GISD's mission is to create a shared vision among their diverse community and provide an exceptional education to all of its students. Like DISD, GISD believes that all children regardless of their socieoeconomic status and race should achieve at equally high levels. GISD is one of the few districts across the United States that open enrollment options to students. GISD does not use attendance zones to determine the school that a student attends, but instead allows parents to choose (www.garlandisd.net). Most students (97%-98%) receive their first choice. GISD also offers dual credit, International Baccalaureate program, career and technology educational clusters (television production, and broadcasting, law and criminal justice, cosmetology, auto collision, and welding), and magnet programs focusing on math, science, and technology (www.garlandisd.net). The overall attendance rate in GISD is 96.7%, which is 1.0% above the state attendance rate (Texas Education Agency, 2012). The four-year graduation rate is 87.7%, which is 1.8% above the state graduation rate (Texas Education Agency, 2012). The dropout rate is 1.6%, which is .8% below the state dropout rate (Texas Education Agency, 2012).

Mesquite Independent School District

Mesquite Independent School District (MISD) is located in East Dallas County and encompasses communities in Mesquite, Garland, and Balch Springs, in addition to some areas of Dallas. MISD has 46 campuses that educate 39,000 students. Nine campuses within the district are designated as high schools (www.mesquiteisd.org). About half (49.6%) of the student population is Hispanic, about a quarter (24.7%) is African American, and about a fifth (20.8%) is White (Texas Education Agency, 2012). Over half (68.3%) of the student population is categorized as economically disadvantaged and about half (50.2%) is considered to be at-risk (Texas Education Agency, 2012). MISD believes that challenging students with high expectations and a rigorous curriculum will lead them to success. MISD also strives to nurture their students' interests and talents by extracurricular programs and opportunities. The overall vision of MISD is similar to that of DISD and GISD in that they want success for all students (www.mesquiteisd.org). The overall attendance rate in MISD is 97%, which is 1.3% below the state attendance rate (Texas Education Agency, 2012). The 4year graduation rate is 89%, which is 3.1% above the state graduation rate (Texas Education Agency, 2012). The dropout rate is 1.6%, which is .8% below the state dropout rate (Texas Education Agency, 2012).

Richardson Independent School District

Richardson Independent School District (RISD) is the largest diverse district in Texas to earn a recognized rating over a six year period. RISD consist of 55 campuses; four of those are designated as high schools. RISD provides an education to almost 38,000 students (www.risd.org). Unlike DISD, GISD, and MISD, the ethnicity of the

student population in RISD is more evenly dispersed. About 39% of the student population is Hispanic, 28% White, and 23% African American (Texas Education Agency, 2012). Over half (57.1%) of the student population is categorized as economically disadvantaged and 42.7% are considered to be at-risk (Texas Education Agency, 2012). The mission of RISD is to prepare students for their global future. RISD offers dual credit and career and technology programs such as auto mechanic and cosmetology (www.risd.org). The overall attendance rate in RISD is 96.3%, which is .6 above the state attendance rate (Texas Education Agency, 2012). The four-year graduation rate is 90.6%, which is 4.7% above the state graduation rate (Texas Education Agency, 2012). The dropout rate is 1.7%, which is .7% below the state dropout rate (Texas Education Agency, 2012).

Sunnyvale Independent School District

Sunnyvale Independent School District (SISD) was created in February of 1956. Initially, SISD only served grades K-8; however, in May of 2007 a bond was passed to build a high school facility so that students would not have to attend high school in MISD. The class of 2011 were the first students to graduate from Sunnyvale High School. Sunnyvale is a small community that covers seventeen miles and the district consists of one elementary school, one middle school, and one high school. The high school educates around 400 students (www.sunnyvaleisd.com). About half (49.1%) of the student population is White, about a third (32.4%) is Asian, 11.3 % is Hispanic, and

5.6% is African American (Texas Education Agency, 2012). Only 8.6% of the student population is categorized as economically disadvantaged and 10.5% are considered to be at-risk (Texas Education Agency, 2012). The mission of SISD is to "provide the highest quality education by creating life-long learners through comprehensive academic, athletic, cultural, and extra-curricular opportunities for the children in the community" (www.sunnyvaleisd.com). The district strives to create a hometown learning community that focuses on individual student needs and achieving academic excellence (www.sunnyvaleisd.com). The overall attendance rate in SISD is 98.2%, which is 2.5% above the state attendance rate (Texas Education Agency, 2012). The four-year graduation rate is 100%, which is 14.1% above the state average (Texas Education Agency, 2012). The dropout rate is 0%, which is 2.4% below the state dropout rate (Texas Education Agency, 2012).

Texans Can Charter Schools

Texans Can is an alternative school for students in juvenile services and high school dropouts. Dallas County has four academies (www.texanscan.org). About half (49.7%) of the student population is African American, about half (47.4%) is Hispanic, and 1.7% is White (Texas Education Agency, 2012). The vast majority (95.1%) of the student population is categorized as economically disadvantaged and 99.1% is considered at-risk (Texas Education Agency, 2012). The mission of Texans Can Charter Schools is to provide a quality education to students who have struggled in a traditional

high school setting so that they can be economically independent in the future. Texans Can encourages student decision-making, rigorous curriculum, and empowering students to succeed (www.texanscan.org). The overall attendance rate is 89.8%, which is 5.9% below the state attendance rate (Texas Education Agency, 2012). The four-year graduation rate is 39%, which is 46.9% below the state graduation rate (Texas Education Agency, 2012). The dropout rate is 5.8%, which is 3.4% above the state dropout rate (Texas Education Agency, 2012).

Table 1.1: District Campuses and Students Serviced

School District	Student Population for the Entire District	Total Number of Campuses	Number of High School Students for the Entire District	Number of High School Campuses
Dallas	157,575	227	38, 018	40
Garland	58,000	71	17,309	7
Mesquite	39,000	46	10,976	9
Richardson	38,000	55	8,800	4
Sunnyvale	1,009	3	400	1
Dallas Can	2,194	4	2,194	4

Table 1.2: District Demographic Data

School	African	Asian	Hispanic	White	Economically	At-
District	America				Disadvantaged	Risk
Dallas	24.4	*	68.7	4.7	86.1	61.8
Garland	17.1	8	48.8	23.4	60.6	45.4
Mesquite	24.7	*	49.6	20.8	68.3	50.2
Richardson	23	*	39	28	57.1	42.7
Sunnyvale	5.6	32.4	11.3	49.1	8.6	10.5
Dallas Can	49.7	*	47.4	1.7	95.1	99.1

Table 1.3: District AYP Data

School District	Attendance Rate	Four-year	Dropout Rate
		Graduation Rate	
Dallas	95.2	77.3	2.8
Garland	96.7	87.7	1.6
Mesquite	97	89	1.6
Richardson	96.3	90.6	1.7
Sunnyvale	98.2	100	0
Dallas Can	89.8	39	5.8

Population and Sampling Procedures

This study identified how judges, parents, principals, and non-profit organizations defined success. This specific set of participants was selected because they are most directly involved with the design, implementation, and evaluation of truancy reduction programs and are in a position to define success within their institution, organization, or school. Stakeholder sampling was used to select participants. Stakeholder sampling is a form of purposive sampling used to identify major stakeholders involved in the design, implementation, and evaluation of programs or services. Participants are purposefully selected based on their knowledge or interaction with the program or service (Lofland, 1997).

The major stakeholders were identified by determining the actors involved in the truancy court process. Participants consisted of four of the five Judges presiding in the Dallas County Truancy Court, parents of students who had been referred to the Dallas

County Truancy Court and had attended a truancy reduction program, administrators of non-profit organizations that provide services to students referred by the Dallas County Truancy Court, and high school principals in six of the seven districts (Dallas, Garland, Mesquite, Sunnyvale, Richardson, and Texans Can Charter Schools) serviced by the Dallas County Truancy Court.

Initial contact with judges, administrators of non-profit organizations, and high school principals was made through email. The email contained basic information about the objectives and procedures of the research for them to review. If there was no response, phone calls were used to follow-up and solicit participation. Based on those procedures, four interviews were scheduled with four different judges servicing the Dallas County Truancy Court. One of the judges was contacted through email and by phone over five times, but did not respond. Thirteen interviews were scheduled with administrators of nonprofit organizations. There are 49 nonprofit organizations that provide services to the Dallas County Truancy Court. There are different categories of services provided by the nonprofit organizations such as boot camp, community service, anger management, individual counseling, family counseling, crisis intervention, alternative education, GED prep, tutoring, mental health, parenting program, substance abuse, mentoring, truancy class, and youth development. Several of the nonprofit organizations provide services in multiple categories. Twenty-one interviews were scheduled with high school principals most directly involved with the issue of truancy.

One interview was scheduled with a student services coordinator who was authorized by the district to speak on behalf of the principals. Every effort was made to contact and schedule an interview with all judges, administrators of nonprofit organizations, and high school principals that were identified as stakeholders within the Dallas County Truancy Court, however; some were non-responsive or declined to participate.

Parents were asked to participate at the review hearing for their child at the Dallas County Truancy Court or at their review appointment with the following nonprofit organizations that they were assigned to by the case manager of the Dallas County Truancy Court: M.Y. G.I.R.L.S., Youth Conversion, Inc., and Youth Conflict Resolution. The review hearing at the Dallas County Truancy Court allowed the judge to review attendance records, behavioral records, certificates of program completion, verbal parent reports, and verbal student reports to determine if the parent and child had complied with the court's order. If the child and the parent were found to be in compliance with the court order, there were no additional consequences. However, if a child and a parent were not found to be in compliance with the court order, the judge would grant an extension based on the circumstances or assign additional fines or mandate additional services for the parent and/or child. The non-profit organizations also periodically monitored the attendance and behavior of the child. Typically nonprofit organizations would follow-up with the student once a week to review

attendance reports and discuss behavior or any other issues with the parent and/or the child. Altogether, there were 20 parent interviews.

Table 2.1 Participant Characteristics: Judges

Judge	Length of Experience with Dallas County Truancy Court	Professional Legal Experience	Professional Educational Experience	District(s) Serviced
A	6 years	Prosecutor in Dallas and Collin County DA's office; Attorney for Child Protective Services, Justice of the Peace, District Court Judge	N/A	Garland
В	9 years	Defense attorney in juvenile cases and juvenile prosecutor for the Dallas County DA's office	20 years at the elementary level and 2 years at the middle school level	Dallas/Dallas Can
С	5 months	General Counsel of the Federal Regulatory Commission, private practice, District Attorney for the 90 th Judicial District of Texas, Chief of the Felony Court in Wichita Falls, Texas, and a public defender and county attorney for Young County	N/A	Mesquite/Richar dson
D	3 years	Licensed practicing attorney	Coached football and taught ESL and elective classes (psychology, sociology, street law, and advanced Texas history) in NY and Texas	Dallas/Dallas Can

Table 2.2 Participant Characteristics: Parents

Parent	District Child	Drogram
Parent		Program
	Attends	Assigned to
		Child
1	Dallas	Unidentified
		workshop
2	Dallas	Boot Camp
3	Dallas	Unidentified
		Workshop
4	Dallas	Boot Camp
5	Dallas	Boot Camp
6	Dallas	Boot Camp
7	Dallas	Workshop
8	Mesquite	Workshop
9	Garland	Boot Camp
10	Mesquite	Unidentified
		Program
11	Cedar Hill	Workshop
12	Dallas	Workshop
13	Lancaster	Workshop
14	Cedar Hill	Workshop
15	Dallas	Workshop
16	New Beginnings	Workshop
	Private School	
	(Dallas County)	
17	Richardson	Workshop
18	Lancaster	Workshop
19	Dallas	Workshop
20	Cedar Hill	Workshop

Table 2.3 Participant Characteristics: Non-Profit Administrators

Non-Profit	Training/Educational Experience	Years affiliated	Services Provided
Administrator		with Organization	
A	Worked with youth in the church and extended family, WorkSource, and Rio Program	10	Life skills development, mentoring, maintaining healthy relationships
В	Social Services, North Central Texas Council of Governments Committee	N/A	Community appreciation, transition skills, drug and alcohol awareness, developing healthy relationships, bullying, and gang prevention
С	Quality Assurance Manager with Juvenile Department, Investigator for DA's office, and Executive Director of a Charter School	1	Character building, leadership skills, career orientation, child and family guidance, anger management, goal setting, GED program
D	D1- Elementary teacher, licensed chemical dependency and international drug and alcohol counselor, DISD department of Safe and Drug Free Schools D2-Military, mental health field, JROTC instructor	1.5	Life skills, developing a healthy life style, counseling, chemical assessments, psychosocial evaluations, drug counseling, family counseling
Е	Social Work, Americorp	10	Life skills, communication skills anger management, decision making
F	Social Work	1.5	Enrichment skills, anger management, drug and alcohol education, and socialization
G	Teacher, remedial junior college instructor, mentor	4	Truancy prevention, life skills ,and goals setting
Н	Program director, social services manager, certified-life coach, director of family services for the city	5	Life coaching, mentoring, career and job skills training, parenting education, and life skills classes
I	Banking industry, mentoring	8	Decision making, anger management, life skills, table etiquette, self-esteem and confidence acquisition
J	Professional Counselor	Less than a year	Counseling session
K	Military	7	Boot camp
L	Education K-12, school counselor, and a professor at a university	3	Advocate for parents and students, life skills
M	Dallas County Community College	3	GED Program and college transition

Table 2.4 Participant Characteristics: Principals

Principal	District	Years of
		Experience as a
		Principal
1	Sunnyvale	5 years
2	Dallas Can	2A-6 years
		2B-N/A
3	Dallas	6 years
4	Dallas	N/A
5	Dallas	10+ years
6	Dallas	21 years
7	Dallas	5 years
8	Dallas	N/A
9	Dallas	N/A
10	Richardson	N/A
11	Richardson	14 years
12	Richardson	11 years
13	Richardson	N/A
14	Richardson	N/A
15	Dallas	8 years
16	Dallas	3 years
17	Dallas	12 years
18	Dallas	18A-3 weeks
		18B-5 years
19	Dallas	N/A
20	Dallas	N/A
21	Dallas	3 years
22	Garland	7 years

Instrumentation

A semi-structured interview using open-ended questions was used to collect data. The questions allowed for the researcher to build a rapport with the participants and create an environment that was conducive to exploring participant meanings in relation to success. An interview protocol was used, however, based on the participant's response certain impromptu follow-up questions were asked. The following interview protocol was used for judges, principals and nonprofit organizations:

- 1. What is your specific title and job responsibilities?
- 2. Describe your background for your current position including your educational experiences, job experiences, or special training.
- 3. How many years have you been a part of the truancy reduction program?
- 4. How does your program define student success?
- 5. What are the goals of the truancy reduction program?
- 6. What are the major components of your truancy reduction program?
- 7. Are there any organizations or agencies that you partner with? If yes, what are they and what services do they provide?
- 8. What is the history and some of the contextual factors involving the creation of the truancy program?

9. In your opinion, what are characteristics of an effective truancy reduction program? Why?

Questions 1, 2, and 3 are general and were designed to build a rapport with the participant, as well as assess contextual factors that frame the participant's perception of the program and how success is measured. Questions 5- 9 are designed to examine judges', non-profit administrators', and principals' perceptions of meaning making within the organization. By investigating the goals and major components of the program the researcher could better understand why success is defined a certain way by the participant. During that process, barriers to defining success among multiple organizations with multiple stakeholders may be identified. Question 4 is designed to ascertain the meaning ascribed to success by judges, non-profit administrators, and principals. Question 4 allowed participants to convey how they perceived success based on their organizational or institutional goals.

A separate interview protocol was used for parents. The following are the questions included on the parent interview protocol:

- 1. What district does your child attend?
- 2. How long has your child attended that district?
- 3. What school districts has your child attended previously?
- 4. What is your child's grade level?
- 5. How old is your child?

- 6. What is the race/ethnicity of your child?
- 7. How helpful was the truancy reduction program to your child?
- 8. Did the truancy reduction program help your child stay in school?
- 9. Did the truancy reduction program improve your child's grades?
- 10. What elements of the school district's truancy reduction efforts have been most beneficial for your child? Why?
- 11. What elements of the school district's truancy reduction efforts have been ineffective for your child? Why?
- 12. Are there any elements that you would like to see added to the district's truancy initiatives? If so, what?

Questions 1 to 6 were designed to provide demographic data and general information about the parent's child in an effort to explore patterns when the data was analyzed. The demographic data includes the child's grade level, age, and race/ethnicity. The general information included the child's school district, length of attendance within the school district, and previous school districts the child attended. Questions 10 to 12 were designed to explore parents' perceptions of meaning making. Questions 7 to 11 were designed to ascertain the meaning ascribed to success by parents. The researcher built a rapport with participants and made the interview format more conversational which allowed the participants to freely discuss the subject matter. Although there was an

interview protocol, each question was not explicitly asked if the participant answered multiple questions in response to one question.

Data Collection

Data was collected from Dallas County Truancy Court judges, parents of truant students who had been referred to the Dallas County Truancy Court, non-profit organizations who provided services to students referred by the Dallas County Truancy Court, and principals from six of the seven districts (Dallas, Garland, Mesquite, Sunnyvale, Richardson, and Texans Can Charter Schools) serviced by the Dallas County Truancy Court. Once participants had scheduled an interview and read and signed the informed consent document, a semi-structured, tape-recorded interview approximately 60 minutes in length was conducted. Two devices were used to record the interview: a standard cassette recorder and a digital recorder. Some interviews were much shorter than 60 minutes due to time constraints and locations. Tape-recorded interviews were necessary with the intention that the researcher did not rely solely on memory or notes and so that nuances in the voice such as words, tone, and pauses were documented. Interviews with judges, principals, and nonprofit organizations primarily took place at the participant's office. Other locations were considered based on the participant's preference. Interviews with parents took place at one of the 5 Dallas County Truancy Court houses or at the locations where workshops were held for Youth Conversion, Inc., Youth Conflict Resolution, and M.Y. G.I.R.L.S. The previously discussed interview protocol was used to conduct all interviews. The open-ended questions contained on the interview protocol allowed the researcher to capture the individual perspectives of all participants. Once interviews were completed, they were transcribed and prepared for data analysis.

Qualitative data analysis, including coding, was used to examine the transcribed interviews. The preliminary exploratory analysis identified all statements related to success and barriers to having a uniform definition of success. Once the statements were identified, the statements were divided into relevant and irrelevant information categories based on whether or not they addressed the initial research questions. The relevant group statements were then separated into various "meaning units" and were assigned codes based on the various meanings articulated in the interviews. Through the process of coding, major themes and patterns were identified and compared within the four major groups of stakeholders and across the various groups of stakeholders. After the interviews of the major stakeholders were coded and analyzed, the definition of success used by various stakeholders were examined, ideas for policy recommendations were explored, and directions for future research were determined.

Ethical Issues

With respect to the protection of the human subjects, the researcher recieved approval for this protocol from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of the University

of Texas at Arlington. In addition, the individual school districts also granted approval of this research study prior to contacting participants. All participants were given an informed consent document that contained detailed information about the study. At that time, participants were allowed to ask questions about the study to gain further clarity about the research project. Additionally, the researcher took the following steps to protect the rights of participants: remained objective in regards to participant responses throughout the interview process, respected privacy, maintained participants' anonymity, secured all data, and solicited voluntary participation.

Reliability, Validity, and Generalizability

The researcher recognized the importance of reliability and validity in qualitative research. To address potential reliability issues, the researcher checked the transcribed interviews to make sure there were no inaccuracies and made sure that meanings of codes were consistent. To ensure that the meanings of the codes were consistent, the researcher conducted an initial coding of the interview and followed-up with an additional blind coding of the interview to compare and resolve any inconsistencies in the meaning of the codes. According to Creswell (2003), validity is "based on determining whether the findings are accurate from the standpoint of the researcher, the participant, or the readers of an account" (Creswell, 2003, p.191). Validity was ensured through the process of triangulation, specifically member checking, which allowed the researcher to send a transcription of the interview to

participants to verify that the data was accurate and ask any necessary follow-up questions needed for clarification. Validity was also enhanced by rich, thick description of the data and disclosure of the researcher's potential biases. On the issue of generalizability, Creswell (2003) asserts that "particularity rather than generalizability is the hallmark of qualitative research" (Creswell, 2003, 193). Qualitative research does not necessarily strive to generalize the findings of studies to other sites; however, it does strive to provide detailed descriptions of procedures and methods used to conduct the study so that it can be replicated in other sites (Creswell, 2003). This study has provided detailed descriptions of all methods and procedures used to conduct the study.

Limitations

The study will be not be generalizable since it is a case study and each school district has shown that they have unique student populations and contextual situations. Non-profit organizations that participated in the study were not required to serve a specific amount of truant students; therefore, some organizations may have serviced ten while others may have serviced two hundred, which may cause their actual success rate to be distorted and their definitions of success to vary. During the selection process of parent interviewees, an amount of time since the completion of the students' truancy reduction program was not specified. Parents' definition of success may vary depending on the time that has lapsed between now and their child's completion of the truancy reduction program.

CHAPTER 4

FINDINGS AND ANALYSIS

This chapter details the findings of semi-structured interviews conducted with: four judges, twenty parents, thirteen non-profit organizations, twenty-one principals, and one student services coordinator. To protect their identities, these judges will be referred to as Judge A, Judge B, Judge C, and Judge D.

Twenty parents receiving services through the Dallas County Truancy Court participated in the current study. For the remainder of the paper, those parents will be referred to as Parents numbers one through twenty. Most parents were interviewed while attending a call back hearing. At the child and the parent's initial meeting with the judge, the judge typically mandates that certain requirements are met. It is at the call back hearing that the judge determines whether or not the child has adhered to the court mandates and if any further programs, assignments, or documentation is required.

Thirteen non-profit organizations contracted to provide services for the Dallas County Truancy Court participated in the current study. For the remainder of the paper, these entities will be referred to as organizations "A" through "M". It is important to

note that one administrator was interviewed in each organization; however, most of the administrators had multiple roles and responsibilities within the organization.

Twenty-one principals of schools within five of the seven districts serviced by the Dallas County Truancy Court participated in the current study. Mesquite Independent School District declined to participate and Garland Independent School District only granted access to the student services coordinator to speak on behalf of administrators within the district. For the remainder of the paper, these principals and the student services coordinator will be referred to as principals numbered one through twenty-two.

As data is presented, the following research questions are addressed: 1) What are the challenges faced in defining success when multiple organizations with multiple stakeholders are involved in a decentralized arrangement? 2) How is success defined in truancy reduction programs by school districts, school principals, parents, and judges?

3) Is the definition of success used by schools, districts, and the state the same as the definition of success used by key stakeholders and non-profit organizations that work with truant students? Through the examination of individual participant interview data using the framework of the theory of social constructions, definitions of success can be examined, patterns within and across participant groups will be identified, and challenges faced in defining success within multiple organizations and among multiple stakeholders are explored. Constructions, as stated in the theory section of the

dissertation, refers to the idea that meanings ascribed to objects and terms are a product of society and individuals' interactions with others rather than something that is invariant (Berger & Luckmann, 1966; Crossley, 2004). Research also suggests that internal and external factors influence individual's construction of meaning. If the stakeholder's definition of success is constructed using federal law or some type of formal institutional policy, then it can be considered an external construction, however, if the stakeholder's definition of success is constructed by personal experiences, biases, or beliefs it can be considered an internal construct.

The findings are grouped into themes that emerged from the data and they include five broad areas that encompass internal and external factors that impact the definition of success. They include institutional constraints, stakeholder experiences (personal and professional), definitions of success as end result versus process, problem identification, and variables at the school level that reduce truancy. During the data collection process it became clear that student success is a part of the definition of success for the truancy reduction program and among some stakeholders student success may serve as a proxy for program success.

Before analyzing the themes that emerged from the data, it is necessary to define the themes so that the various elements included in each theme are clearly identified and understood. Institutional constraints are those that impact success and come from a variety of sources; federal accountability mechanisms and legislation, state legislation, district policy, school processes, and parents, teachers, students, judges, non-profit administrators, and principals' access to information. School processes includes elements such as attendance reporting and curriculum tracks. The second theme that emerged, stakeholder experience, focuses on the personal and professional experiences of judges, parents, non-profit administrators, and principals and the impact those experiences have on their definition of success in relation to truancy reduction programs. Personal experiences include stakeholders' direct experience with the educational system as a student or parent and stakeholders' experience with truant students. Professional experiences are those that are related to the stakeholders' chosen career path and have the ability to influence how stakeholders define success. Participants in the study came from various professional backgrounds such as law, education and social work. The third theme that emerged is definitions of success as end result versus process which is stakeholders' tendency to define success based on a truant student's completion of the program rather than a continuous process involving monitoring and accountability. The fourth theme that emerged is problem identification which focuses on the idea that success is ascertaining the personal, familial, academic, and social issues that truant students are experiencing so that potential solutions can be explored. Lastly, variables at the school level that reduce truancy emerged and relates to positive variables of schools that do not have issues with truancy such as small class size, games at lunch before school, community school format, lyceum, tailoring

curriculum to each student, and creating a culture of graduation. These positive variables influence stakeholders' definition of success.

Institutional Constraints-Educational Legislation

Sismondo (1993) indicates that institutions such as the local, state, and national government do not naturally occur within society, but instead are constructed through routines and conventions. Institutions construct meaning by creating acceptable values and norms, producing legislation, and developing sanctions for individuals who fail to comply with the rules and procedures (Sismondo, 1993). Several participants indicated that educational legislation constructed the meaning of "success" within truancy reduction programs. For example, Judge A indicated that the ultimate goal for any child in the public education system should be graduation, however, Judge A questions the definition of success within the public education system, specifically, the idea that in order for a child to be considered successful, they must score proficient levels on the state-mandated exams. Judge A suggests that:

[Schools] have gotten away with everybody has to be college ready when they graduate from high school and we're losing the sight of there's many things out there that we could be teaching these kids to make them successful, the day they get out of high school.

Judge A asserts that educational legislation limits the scope of the definition of success.

Due to the requirements outlined in the NCLB legislation, schools must meet adequate

yearly progress and while one of the indicators is the graduation rate, another one of the major indicators is the percentage of students scoring proficient levels on the statemandated exams. Because of the way the law constructs success, stakeholders such as Judge A must define success based on those indicators so that they can remain in compliance with the law and not receive any sanctions or loss of funding.

Principal #8, who has six years of experience as an educational administrator, also expressed her frustrations with the current accountability system and the impact that state-mandates have on defining student success:

Well ultimately, all student success is evaluated on graduation or high school completion, because that's our existence. That's our purpose, is to make sure students have a sound education. And so, that's our ultimate measure of success. Uh, and those who are able to continue on to higher education, uh, that are career and college ready. You know, it's not enough for them to graduate, but they have to be able to, like our mission says, 'have to be able to be either globally employed or to continue on to higher education.' It's difficult to have an opinion on what I think success is, when the state, through accountability tells me what my success should be, with the number of dropout percentages and the number of – my bottom line is every child should graduate. There's no reason they shouldn't.

According to Principal #8 the challenge that educators face in constructing a definition of success is that some of the state's policies are in conflict with district policies.

Principal #8's hope for the future was that:

The district and the state come together on the number of credits required for graduation. Currently, DISD requires more graduation credit hours than the state does, which means students have to stay in school longer to graduate, which ultimately, affects our graduate rate, which is part of accountability. I'd like to see the state have a common core of principles and an alignment of courses, so when a kid leaves one school in Texas and goes to another school, they don't lose credit hours because they've transferred.

Principal #13 had been a coach for eleven years prior to becoming an administrator and found educational legislation to be restrictive when defining success. As a coach, he was able to get know the kids on a personal level and understand the struggles that they went through; however, Principal #13 stated:

You try to bring that [the understanding] over to this position, but at the same time, It's pretty black and white as what the state demands. So, applying, you know, what you know and what you want is best for the kid, but specifically, the law says this – you're at this number. There's not a lot of wiggle room.

In contrast, Principal #22 who has one and a half years' experience as an educational administrator and oversees an early college high school, found it very easy

and clear cut to define success using education legislation. She stated that "[if a student is successful] they start coming to school. Well, just like any other district, they're academically successful. They pass from year-to-year. They graduate. The success of a truant student is one who comes to school." When asked if a student had to come to school one hundred percent of the time or just exhibit a reduction in absences to be successful, Principal #22 said:

That's not really a professional question, that's more of a personal thing. That's subjective. If the law says that you have to be in school every day that school is in session for the entire period that it's in session and you're deliberately not present, then, that's not successful if you are not in school. But, that's my interpretation of that statute. Whether or not a student is successful at that point, you're talking about filing a truancy case. It really doesn't matter what I think personally. Because the person who makes that decision is the one who signs the court order.

Again, educational legislation as an institutional constraint has dictated the definition of success of students within the truancy reduction program by providing strict guidelines of what is deemed successful and not successful regardless of individual student circumstances or contextual factors. Educational legislation has provided a template with guidelines and sanctions for defining student success, thereby aiding individuals in the process of meaning making. Marx and Engels (1888) would suggest that the

legislation was created and implemented by the affluent to continue the domination over the working class, thus giving the affluent the power to control the definition of terms such as "success". Marx and Engels (1888) would further suggest that the only way to create a dialogue and change the definition of success to be more inclusive of all classes would be to acknowledge the existing class structures and to question the taken for granted realities.

Institutional Constraints- School Processes

Another institutional constraint that impacted the definition of success for participants was school processes. School processes included inaccurate attendance reporting, the school environment, and state and district mandated curriculum tracks. Also, within this category the school processes at work within magnet schools, single-sex academies, and early college high schools will be explored since those schools did not experience any issues with truancy, thereby influencing participants' definitions of success in relation to truancy reduction programs. Parents were the primary stakeholders that had a difficult time defining success due to the school's inaccurate attendance reporting. For example, it was difficult for the parent of a fifteen year old biracial girl that had recently moved from California to define success because she felt that the truancy case filed against her daughter was unjust and the result of the school's poor attendance reporting. The parent explained that:

It wasn't really her that was missing school. You see, that's the whole thing that nobody wanted to listen to, in court or here. The teachers were marking her absent because she was in the wrong class. They changed her schedule and didn't let her know they changed the schedule. So, they were just marking her absent really. And then they made us come here and pay money and all kinds of other stuff.

Upon further investigation and questioning of her child, the parent was able to ascertain that teachers were either not calling roll or having students sign in as they walked into the classroom or the teachers were having students take attendance. Initially when the parent became aware of the incorrect documentation of her daughter's attendance, she immediately contacted the school for assistance in addressing the issue. As stated previously, the parent is originally from California so she was not aware of the specific attendance policies in Texas and sought support from the school. The school basically sent her from one person to another without providing any real assistance. The parent said that the person that helped her the most was the school secretary. The parent was not able to provide a definition of success in relation to the truancy reduction program because according to her there was never a problem with her daughter's attendance.

The parent of a fourteen year old African American boy also attributed her son's case before the Dallas County Truancy Court to inconsistency in the school's

attendance reporting, and as a result, was unable to define success in relation to the truancy reduction program. Her son was assigned to in-school suspension (ISS) for fighting. While he was on campus in ISS, he was still marked absent in his regular classes. The parent said that the school was supposed to correct the inaccuracies in his attendance, but they never followed through.

The parent of a fifteen year old Hispanic boy explained that her child is considered to be truant because he is continuously late to class. He's typically late because he goes to the restroom or decides to walk someone else to class. Upon entering the classroom, teachers sign his attendance reporting sheets, but still count him absent. Once her son reaches a certain amount of tardies, the parent indicated that her child would be placed in in school suspension (ISS). Once he is in ISS, sometimes he is marked as being absent from classes even though he is still on the school premises. These institutional practices at the school hindered the parent's ability to define success in relation to the truancy reduction program. The parents' continual interactions with stakeholders within the education process (i.e. principals, counselors, attendance clerks, etc.) impacted their ability to define the term success. While a clear definition of success in relation to the truancy reduction program did not emerge from parents, the interview data still supports the social constructionist view that factors such as institutional school processes can influence and ultimately hinder the process of meaning making (Sismondo, 1993; Hosltein & Gubrium, 2008).

Similar to the parents, the executive director of a non-profit organization was also concerned about school institutional processes, namely attendance reporting, and the impact that had on student success and ultimately the success of the truancy reduction program. The administrator indicated that several students who shared their stories with her revealed that their attendance was tied to the teacher's classroom management or lack thereof. The administrator stated:

I would like to see [schools] not use the attendance as a weapon of management. I hear several students share in their truancy stories that they are truant because of the relationship with their teacher, meaning that the teacher put them out and marked them absent. And those absences added up to be truant. And so that became a component for that child to end up in the court system because of a behavioral issue with a teacher or even classroom management with a teacher. Because in some instances it's not even the parents or the children's issue of truancy, it's actually the school's issue. More and more we are having teachers that are using the attendance piece to be their discipline mechanism in the classroom.

Several parents also noted that the school environment impacted the success of their child and the poor institutional practices made it difficult for the parents to define success. For example, the parent of a fifteen year old biracial girl stated that the school environment was detrimental to her child's academic success. The parent stated:

Some of the teachers are racist. The majority of the kids are Black and the Mexican kids get treated way different. I mean, you see the favoritism all the way with kids there. I mean, Black kids getting all the favoritism and the Mexican kids abused. There's about thirty Mexicans in that school...One teacher told my daughter, 'You Mexicans shouldn't be coming in here. They should make it an all Black school.

The instance that the parent described is not just specific to teachers; she argues that it is also a common occurrence at the administrative level. The parent went on to describe her encounters with the school principal:

She's always doing something else. Like one day when I went in there to fix her thing – her record, I stood in there from 11:00 until 1:00 for somebody to see.

And she was still ignoring me, going past me, taking other parents in which were Black parents and I'm sitting in the chair waiting. So, it's just like, you know, it's the favoritism that goes on in that school.

The parent indicated that she was currently trying to move into another district so that her daughter could attend a school with a more diverse mixture of students and a staff and administration that treated all kids equally.

The parent of a fifteen year old biracial boy who is a severe asthmatic also felt that the school environment prohibited her from constructing a clear definition of success and went on to explain a situation that had occurred at school after he had a minor flair up:

When we first got to [his school], he was pulled from class and searched because they thought that he was on drugs [after minor flair ups he is typically hyper]. So, I was really upset about that and it's just instances like that that just...To the point you know to where it's made me seriously think about sending him to stay with his father because he lives in [another] district. So, I'm going back and forth trying to figure out what's the best solution for this.

The parent also stated that she was considering a form of home school known as a "virtual academy." Additionally, the parent stated that she was distressed because her son came home daily and said that he almost got into a fight. The classes at his school are overcrowded and the students are unruly. The parent said that she was constantly hearing stories:

...about people stepping on people's shoes. There's conflict because they are getting bumped. You know it's crazy. The class is just too crowded. I don't think they [the school] has the resources to break down those classes. I think that if they were able to create smaller classes, like maybe twenty-five, twenty-six kids in class, then maybe they would be more hands on. They would be more

equipped to deal with them. You know certain students that they perceive as lacking.

Several parents indicated that the lack of institutional support from the school clouded their construction of the definition of success. For example, the parent of a fourteen year old African American boy has searched for mentoring programs within her community since the school her son attends does not provide mentoring programs; however, she has not been successful in locating that resource. She was informed by an employee of the Dallas police department that her son would have to be a criminal to get that type of help.

The parent did not feel that the school was providing the necessary support for her child to be successful. When she went up to the school to investigate her child's attendance records, she was told by an administrative assistant that she could not stop what she was doing to help the parent. She immediately took her concerns to the school principal and she was provided with the proper information. The parent continues to reach out to the school by contacting teachers to schedule conferences and by contacting the counselor to see what resources are available for her child. The entire process has been frustrating for the parent. She stated that:

As a parent, you see where your child is going – another direction before they actually get to that full direction. And [the school] is not helping...I have

requested some conferences with teachers, but not one has responded to me...I actually call up there in tears. And I was like, 'Do ya'll not care about the kids?' You know...I know most parents may not be up there, but here I am, a concerned parent, trying to see what's going on with my child and I cannot get one teacher to call me back. And I told them...I said, 'I'm going to take it to a higher level. I'm going to DISD.' And that's when I got a conference with the teacher.

She also had a meeting with the school counselor. During that meeting, it was recommended that the parent take her son to Metrocare, a non-profit organization that assists people with mental illness, developmental disabilities, and severe emotional problems. The counselor stated that they could give him some type of medicine to calm him down. The parent was very adamant about the fact that medicine would not solve the problem. She believed her son could benefit from school programs such as mentoring and counseling to address the issues that her son was dealing with.

The parent of a fifteen year old severe asthmatic also believed that there was a lack of support from the school because the school failed to acknowledge that her son has a medical condition, severe asthma, and the school's attendance policies do not accommodate for that making it difficult for her to define success in relation to the truancy reduction program. The parent stated that:

He is missing school because when his asthma flairs he has to stay home. I can't send him to school. You know you got so many kids that smell like smoke. He can't be around cigarette smoke right now, any kind of smoke. He can't be around heavy perfume. He can't be around an environment where he can't get fresh air. So it wouldn't do me any good to send him to school, knowing that I would have to pay for it later because he's going to have to have a hospital stay.

In the previous district her son attended, they recognized that he was a severe asthmatic and took that into consideration when evaluating his attendance records. In the current district, they are requiring that the parent call the attendance office the morning that her son will be absent and provide a doctor's note upon his return to school. The parent is used to providing a handwritten note justifying her child's absence and is still adjusting to this new procedure. She cited this as the main reason for the filling of the truancy court case. The parent also felt that having to provide a doctor's note every time that her son's asthma flared up was unreasonable. This is a condition that she has been handling since she was two so there was no reason that she needs to take him to the doctor because she knows how to handle the situation. She also noted that financially she did not have the means to do that. During the parent's court appearance, the judge informed her about the 504 program. Up till that point, she had never heard of the program or been informed by her son's school. The 504 program refers to section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act and the American disabilities act which

prohibits excluding individuals with disabilities from participating in federally funded programs or activities including elementary and secondary schooling. Her son would qualify for assistance.

Based on parent reports, Judge B stated that procedures at schools are detrimental to student success and as a result a hindrance to defining success within truancy reduction programs. Judge B argues that schools needed to do a better job of identifying special needs that may impede student learning. He added that parents are coming from other districts or states and indicated that their children were not receiving the proper testing, and as a result, their children are not in the proper program to address behavioral, emotional, social, and/or academic issues.

Participants' also suggested that the traditional academic track and college were not for every student and challenged the state and the school's traditional measure of success. This element within the school processes category was unique in that several participants from all stakeholder groups acknowledged that the academic tracks mandated by the state and implemented by school districts influenced their constructions of the definition of success in relation to the truancy reduction programs. For example, Judge A recommends the development of trade/vocational programs within school districts to assist students in developing practical work skills if they do not wish to attend college. In the school district that Judge A services, they have a welding program that allows students to graduate from high school with a classification

as certified welders. Judge A acknowledges the potential benefits of such vocational programs and states that:

[Judge A] wishes that we could have a trade component of high school. I don't think that everybody fits into the, 'I got to take the state test and I've got to be able to do well on this state test to be successful.' I got to be honest with you. When I take my car to be repaired, I don't care if that person passed an English test. I really don't. I care about, 'Can he fix my car.' And if he can fix my car, I'm going to pay him money.

The parent of two African American girls, a fourteen and seventeen year old, has high expectations for both of her daughters and discussed their future career aspirations. At one time, both of her daughters wanted to be veterinarians, but now, her younger daughter wants to be a teacher. Part of the struggle that the parent has with her daughters and nurturing their success in school is that they are not receiving the proper services in school. She went on to explain that initially, her older daughter was diagnosed as being borderline ADHD and because of that the school said that there was nothing that they could do. She was tested every year to determine why she was struggling so much. Just last year, after about nine years of testing, she was finally diagnosed as being dyslexic. At the time of the interview, her older daughter had just been kicked out from her current high school because of truancy.

The parent stated that her daughter did not excel in the traditional school settings provided in DISD, however, her daughter did excel in specialized schools such as Richardson Independent School District's Evolution Academy. The parent explained that:

She [her older daughter] was actually learning things. She would come home and do homework and things I wasn't seeing when she was going to DISD. She would bring homework home and do reading. She came in my room and asked me questions and be on the computer. She'd actually work and do things and do projects. I remember, I cannot get this out of her when she was in DISD...[the classes are] more focused, the teacher can talk to you. You know, she's easily distracted. That's the problem.

The parent also stressed that her daughter strongly disliked the traditional school setting:

[Her daughter stated that] she doesn't care if they lock her up. She said maybe she'll learn something while she's there... They spend too much time worrying about teaching them how to pass the test instead of teaching you things you actually need in life. Maybe the teachers there will be better than those at DISD.

Her daughter is unable to attend the Evolution Academy because they have already filled their allotted number of slots. The parent believes that the traditional school setting may be stifling the success of her daughters. The parent describes success as an evolutionary process:

Being in school in general and being able to come home and tell me what you learned today [is success]. Because I tell my kids, 'You should learn something new every day, because that's the growing process. And as we grow, no matter how old we get we should learn something new every day.' And I would share with them, what I learned new, for that day. So, I expect them to have learned something new. Not that same old, same old, you know...What did they learn in math? Is there a new method or something that you need to teach me? What did you learn in English? And my kids, they just get in the car and sit there and look at me. They learn more stuff in gym than they do in academic classes...that's strange to me.

The parent wants the school to inspire and her daughters to aim high and reach their full potential, whether it is pursuing careers in teaching, medical, or political fields. She has high expectations for her daughters and she would like that to be reinforced at school.

Institutional Constraints-Traditional Curriculum

The parent of a sixteen year old Caucasian female who attended magnet schools during her elementary, middle, and high school years suggested that the entire educational system was broken. He stated that:

Not all kids are created equal. Not all kids are geared towards academics. Some kids are hands on. Working on cars; being a plumber – whatever on the trades, that type of thing. Those kids are not going to do well in academics. They don't care. They're not caring less – English, math, they're done with all that. That's why a lot of kids are cutting classes. That's why they're skipping school or quitting school. There's no future in it. They know they're going to fail. Why even bother? Back in the day, schools did have [it] to where you could – that was your major – it's in the trades. If you were getting the academics, you move on in that. They've [schools] have cut out all of the trades. Now, it's all pigeonholed down that one thing. You either do this or...Now they're trying to force everybody to do good to go to college. Well, not everybody is geared for college. I'm sorry that just isn't going to work.

The parent indicated that the school provided no intervention strategies and put the responsibility on his daughter to come up with ideas that might work for her.

At a minimum success meant to graduate from high school; however, the parent acknowledged that not every student would be successful on an academic track; therefore, the schools should offer more vocational programs.

Organization "F" also acknowledges that college will not be the path for every student. The administrator stated:

There are people who are interested in specific kinds of thing that don't require going college. There are kids who do work better with their hands. They do have skills that can be developed in other kinds things than maybe academics.

The administrator said that part of the aim of the program is to ascertain student goals and aspirations and then have students identify the necessary steps to meet those goals, whether it be a four year university or some type of vocational training program. The administrator indicated that the school's refusal to make the curriculum more applicable and relevant to student's lives is impacting the success of students. The administrator stated:

I'd like to see them get rid of the archaic curriculum that we are holding on to. And by archaic, I mean these twenty-one credits of science, math, history, and economics. You know, whatever it is, it's so archaic, you're losing children. And you want to know why? Because you're talking to them about economics and Texas History, and who really cares? Really...But these kids, they don't care. That's the thing that I think the school districts all need to completely revamp, re-haul, out with the old, in with the new, just get with a new program because we are centuries later and we just need to be teaching our kids differently, with life skills, personal growth and development, meeting them where they are.

The administrator acknowledge the presence of vocational/trade tracks and magnet schools; however, based on her personal experience working within those institutions and students' reports, the schools that claim to offer those programs still require the core curriculum and only minimally implement the various tracks. The administrator attributes the "broken" educational system for the persistence of truancy.

Principal #8, who has six years of experience in educational administration acknowledged that:

We live in a society of migrant workers and we know that our people move around according to where the jobs are. So instead of the traditional curriculum and school setting, our schools should facilitate that. I think we should have a sliding schedule of course offerings, whether it be on-line, whether it be virtual school or whether it be kids come in and they can start early and go half a day or come half a day and stay late. But, it should be set up for the convenience of the students, especially when we know the economics is going to dictate their attendance. And so, we have to be mindful of that.

Similarly, Principal #13, who has over ten years of experience in the field of education recognized that not all students want to pursue college and are interested in sitting in a math or English class for four years. The students' interests lie elsewhere.

According to Principal #13, more career and technology programs could assist with

decreasing the occurrence of truancy because students are involved in something that they want to do. When Principal #13 was asked to define success, he said:

I think a kid showing up and being engaged and actually wanting to be here. I think we talk too much about grades and test and everything. The kid wanting to be here; the kid showing up and participating.

To reach that level of success, Principal #13 suggested offering more technical classes. Principal #13 expounded on the importance of reevaluating the course offerings and requirements:

I think that if you have something to work towards or something that's going to you know – I think there's a disconnect between some kids and content in classes. I think some kids look at Algebra II for example, 'I'm never going to use this.' They look at – I don't know, history, social studies, uh. American history and say, you know, 'It's good to know, but I'm never going to use this. I want to be, you know, whatever it is.' So, if you had something that was more of an interest inventory or just something that they could make a career out of and they leave high school with their certification. Then, it's a career and I think they would want to be here and work toward that.

Institutional Constraints- Access to Information

The lack of information across organizational levels limited the meanings that stakeholders could ascribe to the term "success" in relation to truancy reduction programs. Judge A identifies graduation as the "true element of success", he also notes that it's one of the success standards that Judges cannot confirm as students may not appear before the judge again. Judge A asserts that:

The only real ability [judges] have is, do we ever see that child again. So, I guess, kind of from our own instinct is, success is if I see a child once and I never see him again, it's success. But, that's not really something you can tell because that child could have moved. That child could have – there's a whole lot of things that could have occurred with why you didn't see him.

Judges at the Dallas County Truancy Court do not have access to records indicating whether or not a student that has received services from the Court graduated high school, making it very difficult to track that definition of success. Adding more complexity to the definition of success, Judge A also revealed that even if a child returned to his court room, he would not automatically render that child unsuccessful. If students return to his courtroom with fewer unexcused absences and better grades, that can be considered a success because the child is moving torward to the ultimate goal of graduating.

Judge B's definition of success was also limited based on his access to information. Judge B stated that:

If a student has been very successful, I won't see the student again, because when they come for a review, they don't come into the courtroom. They don't have to if they've had no problem with attendance. They have violated no aspects of the court order...I'll see some of those who come back who have not done what is required. It's going to be a smaller number so I know right away that other students must have been pretty successful, complied with the order, must be getting to school, and doing their assigned work.

While reduction of absences and improvement of grades are two measures of success, Judge B also based success on other issues that were expressed at their initial hearing. For example, if at the initial hearing the student's parent indicated that the student was coming in late from school, the occurrence of the issue should have decreased or been completely eliminated at the time of the review hearing.

Institutional Constraints-Professional/Personal Experience

Participants also indicated that their experiences within the educational field aided in their construction of the term "success" in relation to truancy reduction programs. When asked to describe his background for his current position including but not limited to his educational experiences, job experiences, or special training, Judge A replied that he would "have to go back to elementary school, junior high, and high

school". He stated that he never missed a day of school from first through twelfth grade and this is one reason why he is so passionate about his job as a truancy court judge. For him, growing up, he knew that if he "didn't go to school, [he wasn't] going to get anywhere". He saw education as his "ticket out of the situation". He noted that it was not a bad situation, but that his family did not have a lot of money.

Judge A saw the elements to defining success as multifaceted, stating that:

Success is actually determined in numerous different ways. Obviously, first and foremost, do they graduate from high school? ... If they graduate from high school, then that is our true element of success. I like to actually go a little bit further because I think that's our baseline. What I would prefer is that through high school, they've also have understood the need to get further education.

Whether it be a trade school; whether it be junior college; whether it be a four year university, to continue learning. Because the more their education and the more degrees they can actually obtain, the better their potential for earning capacity.

For Judge A, the definition of success that he uses to evaluate his work is not one mandated by state legislators. It is a definition developed out of his personal experience and the value he places on education as a tool for economic self-sufficiency. Thus for Judge A, success means graduating from high school and continuing on to further education, whether it be a four-year university or a trade school to earn some

type of professional certification. In addition to secondary and post-secondary education, Judge A defines success as the ability of an individual to contribute to society's economy and support themself and their family economically.

The parent of a seventeen year old Caucasian girl's definition of success was formed by his own personal experience as a high school dropout and his perception that the educational system was broken.

When asked to define success, Parent #17 said:

Not going to court...because I know if she attends class, by virtue of just being there, she would probably pass. I just want her to get a high school diploma. I would like for her [to go beyond that], but if she can't even get through high school, I don't see her getting anywhere else. I know I may be somewhat of an exception. I was a high school dropout. I went in to the Navy at the age of 17. I got my GED then I did get a little bit of college. A little bit of tech school. I did get a diploma from tech school. But, I was fortunate enough to get into the basic field of electronics and I worked my way up. Now, I'm a design engineer. But, I don't have a college degree.

Principal #11 works at a high school in the Richardson Independent School

District (RISD) and reminisced about his high school experience. He stated that he went
to a high school in a small town where truancy was not an issue. Students knew that you
went to school; there were no options. Principal #11 has earned a bachelor's degree, a

master's degree, and has accumulated several additional hours; however, he stated that nothing in his undergraduate or administrative training has helped him with truancy. It is not something they addressed in any of his educational training.

Principal #12 works at a high school in the Richardson Independent School

District. She has eleven years of experience. Her job entails working with twelfth grade students, facilitating the enrollment and withdrawal process, and managing dropout prevention. Principal #12 attributes her effectiveness in working with at-risk students, specifically truant students and potential high school dropouts to her experience as a classroom teacher and in the attendance office. She said that:

Coming from the classroom and working with predominantly minority students, I think that helped. Based on our dropout rate and our attendance rate sometimes those high frequency individuals are students who look like me.

Research regarding the phenomenon of social constructions indicates that individuals' interactions with institutions shape how they construct meanings to ascribe to different terms and ideas (Berger & Luckmann, 1966; Crossley, 2004).

Institutional Constraints-Problem Identification

Stakeholders constructed a definition of success based on whether or not they were able to identify the issue(s) that was keeping the student from attending school. The administrator of Organization "A" stated that she mainly defined success

within the program as identifying the problem that is keeping the student from attending school and students leaving more informed about the resources available to them. The administrator stated that:

I've learned that they don't wake up in the morning and say, 'Hey, I want to drop out of school or I don't want to go to school.' So, I think, me listening to them, finding out what's their problem and then give them a solution [is success].

For example, there are a lot of teenage mothers that do not know the resources that are available to them. Through the program, the administrator has the opportunity to inform program participants of programs available to them that can provide childcare so they do not have to miss school to stay at home with their child. Some of the resources that children are lacking are needed to meet their basic needs. At times, students may not have access to water, electricity, food, or shelter. The program also seeks to provide information for resources pertaining to those basic needs. The administrator went on to explain that:

The resources help because a lot of the times they go back and tell their parents the resources that are out there. And it even makes the kid feel needed and feel important because it's like, 'I'm able to go back and tell my mom, we can fix the problem.' Especially when I deal with minority kids such as my Hispanics. A lot of their parents have immigration problems. Well, we have lawyers that we team

up with that we say, 'Hey give this card to your mom.' [Tell them that we sent you]...Sometimes I have a kid that is hungry and don't know the different types of assistance that they can get – food banks. There are some kids that don't know about food stamps. We tell them about the system. And it makes them feel good and then they'll call back and they'll say, 'You know what...I appreciate you...My mom is so happy.' You know, and so I think the resources, it helps a lot for our program.

Since success within the program is based on the identification of a problem and the acquisition of knowledge regarding available resources, success is tracked using follow-up calls to parents to assess how the student is doing in school.

Similar to the administrator of Organization "A", the administrator of Organization "E" who has a degree in social work stated that the main goal of the program was to identify the reason why the student does not want to go to school and to make sure that the issue(s) is addressed and the student's needs are fulfilled. Thus problem identification involves identifying the failing partner.

When asked to define success, the administrator indicated that the primary factor that defined success was attendance:

"I just want to make sure that they're still in school. That's the main question I ask, 'Are they still attending classes?' 'Have they been truant anymore? Are

they going to school?' Because that's the bottom line for truancy; they just want to know if they're attending school."

In order for the student to be successful the problem must be identified.

The administrator of Organization "L" had a unique perspective because she had experience in education K-12, as a school counselor, and as a university professor. The entire premise of the programs within Organization "L" is that the parent, the student, and the school have a partnership. So, as the core foundation of the program, the partnership is dismantled and examined in an effort to determine which partner is failing. Once the failing partner is identified, the administrator stated that she builds a foundation around the failing partner. When asked to clarify and specifically delineate the characteristics of a failing partner, the administrator explained:

"The student has a responsibility to go to school and learn; to go to class on time; to complete his or her assignments; to go to tutoring, if he or she needs help and pass their grades. If a child brings a report card in and it's failing, we'll look at why the child is failing. Why is this child failing? Why is this child having an attendance problem? If the child is skipping, then we can identify that that partner is failing. If the parent is not checking the child's attendance, if the parent does not have conferences, if the parent does not know about the child's report card on his or her own or grade status. If the parent does not turn in the parental notes or check to see if the student has turned it in, we know that

partner is failing. If the school is not willing to work with the parent or the child, not offer them tutoring, or offer them tutoring but fail to have parent conferences, fail to contact the parent, just let the automated system call the parent when the child is skipping and never make a phone call to the parent.

Never reach out to the parent to find out what's going on with this child. Never send this child or refer this child to SST or student support team or some type of intervention group in the school. Never refer this child to a counselor. If their teacher is not taking measures beyond just grading the paper and just being the teacher, then the school is failing. So, we look at what partner is failing in the relationship."

The administrator stated that if the student is identified as the failing partner, the students will be placed on a behavior contract if the behavior persists. However, initially, students will examine and create their own options and then they will sign and commit to the options that they have chosen. The students have option" A": to go to class on time or option "B": to not go to class on time. In addition to identifying their options, students explore the consequences of their options. Students typically implement their chosen options within the first week of the program; at that point, there are usually no attendance problems. The administrator stated that students are required to bring attendance reports to each session of the program as an added accountability piece.

If the parent has been identified as the failing partner, the administrator facilitates a parent focused program which emphasizes the difference between a proactive and a reactive parent. The goal is to challenge parents to become proactive and resolve minor issues before they become a situation or some type of crisis. Parents are provided with the appropriate resources to conduct an effective parent conference. If the school has been identified as the missing link the parent is required to arrange two parent conferences and request that the teacher fill out a form that provides the parent, the student, and the facilitator with their perspective. The form is designed to hold the school accountable and to determine if there are interventions that the teacher is currently using. One of the issues that the administrator has noticed within the school system is discrepancies in attendance reporting due to behavior issues, meaning the teacher put the child out of the classroom due to disruptive behavior and marked the student absent.

Institutional Constraints-Success as Program Completion versus Success as a Process Some participants simply defined success as program completion because that was the only variable that they were able to measure due to time, resources, and informational constraints. For example, when asked to define success, Administrator "H" said:

Completing eight hours at this stage [is the definition of success]. I wish it was something more than that. I wish I could get to the level where we [Organization

"H"] are actually, you know, consistently following with them; that we're able to see them through their years of high school. To actually see them set some goals and then actually reach their goals and then graduate from high school and go on to college, if that's their desire. Which, I honestly hope that it is. But, um that's what I'm shooting for, but again I'm one person. So, my success measure now is that they complete at least that eight hours that they started.

When asked to define success, Administrator "J" gave a simple explanation: "if the student and the parent arrive on time and if they are engaged in therapy [that is success]."At that point the administrator can inform the judge that the student has met the requirements of the truancy court.

When asked to define success, the administrator stated:

Well, now, when they finish this program, they get a certificate. Okay. They take that certificate back to court and I keep up with my own numbers, for the recidivism part of it. And the courts keep up with theirs. Now, the numbers that they have, I don't know. My numbers right now, for my recidivism of kids that don't come back to the program is probably around, I'm going to say, seventy percent and that's give or take a little bit because some kids won't come back even if they do reoffend they just go to the next step as adults.

Administrator "K" also indicated that program completion was the only viable way to define success. He clarified his comments be stating that:

[The only way] I know they've [the students] have been successful is through the program. Now, once they [the student] leave the program, I know nothing else about that kid. I don't do that [track students] because I probably run about one hundred and fifty kids through here a week. So, keeping up with those guys, I'd lose my mind, trying to figure out if they've finished high school or not.

Like Administrator "K", Administrator "B" also defined success as program completion. The administrator explicitly stated that:

We define student success by successfully completing the program components we outline for them [in the time frame outlined]...We also define it by avoiding furthering into the criminal justice system. So, from being in contempt of court; successfully completing their court order; successfully completing the terms of their probation.

In contrast, some participants defined success as a process, meaning the definition of success was not static, but forever changing which supports Blumer's (1969) view of the processes of meaning making as static. Administrator 1 within Organization "D" who has extensive training in drug and addiction counseling suggests that individuals outside of the rehabilitation process have misperceptions of what constitutes success. Administrator 1 explained that "a lot of our parents [and administrators] misinterpret the whole idea of going to the hospital. They think it's a one stop shop and that's it. You know, they're cured and they're really not."

Administrator 2 within Organization "D" who has experience in the military and working with individuals in halfway houses expounded on defining success and the idea of progress:

One of the things that we have to use with the parents when we start talking about treatment... [is the concept of an individual living with diabetes]. They [the students] have to figure out if they are diabetic, number one. And then they have to start to figure out how to live with being a diabetic. You know watching their insulin and watching their sugar. You know, so that's kind of what we use with the parents, telling them that first of all, you have to figure out if they are using drugs. What drugs? You know, and then they start living with the addiction. They have to get detoxed in a residential [facility] and then learn to live with that addiction for the rest of their life.

Acknowledging that truancy is a process that is impacted by a number of variables, including drug addiction, nonprofit organizations define success within the context of resolving these various variables, however, institutional constraints such as the court's and school's failure to consider these obstacles. To ensure that students keep making positive strides and progress, Organization "D" offers a continuum of care. The continuum of care offers support and resources to students and families so that they can make a smooth transition back into their daily lives while battling addiction.

Administrator 2 described the rationale behind the continuum of care program:

So, the kids are coming out and nobody's there to catch them. So, what we're trying to do is to develop a safety net to say, 'Come on in. We'll take you on.' Some of them end up going to Alcoholics Anonymous (AA) meetings and Narcotics Anonymous (NA) meetings because they want that after care, but there is no place to give it to them. Sometimes they charge them so outrageously over-priced that, 'Come on man, those kids can't afford it. Okay, so that's where we come back in.

The program that the administrator 1 facilitates is designed to impact young ladies' lives and let them know that there is no such thing as failure. The administrator explained that:

Just because they [the ladies that attend the program] have experiences different, you can call it, you know, triumph or tragedy or whatever in life that you could still go forward. It's believing in yourself, loving yourself, knowing your self-worth and then, building on their self-esteem, and their confidence. And letting them know that there's a method – a different pathway they can take in order to become successful women of today.

The administrator affiliated with Organization "L" who has experience in K-12 education, school counseling, and as a professor at a university for teacher education also explained success as a process and indicated that three variables were used to

define success: attendance, grades, and behavior. In regards to the measurement of those variables, the administrator expounded:

Every child is different. I know that just from teaching. And that's why you have to have individual interventions. They don't work for every student. So, depending on when they walk through the door. If I had a student that was absent twenty-some days. I'm seeing this student's attendance is a major problem and I need to see major turnaround. In other words, I've had cases where they've had twenty absences and if they only end up with two or three tardies, I consider that a success.

The administrator also explained different levels of student success:

If I had a student who doesn't have absenteeism as a problem, just forgot to turn in their notes. And if I see that a student is out sick and I see excused, excused, excused. Then, I'd say, 'Um, parent and the student, one or the other is turning in these notes. And I'd consider that as successful. If I have a student walk through the door and he or she is failing three subjects, missing thirty days of absences, I'm looking at not only attendance, but I want to see improvement in academics. And so, if I see an improvement in both – generally, if they attend, the grades will go up. Because they're sitting in that desk and they're learning. They also have to go to tutoring. So, I also have to see evidence of effort that

I'm going to tutoring. And if I see those areas of improvement, then, I consider that child to be successful.

The administrator elucidated another level of success:

If it's behavior – if the child is getting put out of class, going to alternative school, then I look at, 'When was the last time you went to alternative school and how long has it been since you've gotten an office referral for behavior.'

And if I don't see any in that six weeks period, then I will deem that that child is a success.

Principal #5 was not able to provides another example of defining success as a process rather than an end result. He stated:

Sometimes, you can't put a definition on it. What works for one student, may not work for the next one, but if I can get them engaged in school again — interested in school and interested in learning, because lifelong learning is important to me. And so, success is different for each kid. And so, trying to define it for and — and put it in the framework of the cookie-cutter approach doesn't work because kids are different. And so, what we try to do is look at a kid's personal graduation plan. We look at other things that may affect a kid's readiness — we call it school readiness — to make sure that we have a plan — an exit plan for them. So they can go off into their future whatever their endeavors may be. Whether its college or whether it's getting a job or going to the military.

Principal #16 who has over a decade of experience in the educational field also indicated that success was a continual process of improvement. He stated:

Growth, students grow. Of course, the state answer would be to pass, if you're in the eleventh or twelfth grade, the state answer would be to successfully, pass all state assessments. So, that's any, so it's not just eleventh, but you know, eleventh and twelfth is TAKS and the rest of the babies are STAAR; to successfully pass the TAKS and the STAAR; all the state assessments, as well as, to pass all your classes. You want to see growth in respect to attendance and in respect to tardies.

Principal #16 clarified his definition of success by stating any growth would be seen as improvement, but that he would not use the word success, but he would know the student was headed in the right direction. To further clarify, Principal #16 stated "success, I mean – I don't want to play on words, but success is – my definition is being able to successfully graduate from high school."

When asked to define success, Principal #17 also defined it as a process by stating:

I see success in a student and I'm just talking about how they grow from [when]
I first see them in the ninth grade maybe all the way up until they get to the
twelfth grade. The one thing that I see is that maturity level, understanding the

rules, being able to follow, being able to adapt. Our students come from a background – they don't have much. So the trust is really not there with a lot of people, as far as you know, them going out somewhere else or someone coming in. You really have to earn that. And so, when I see a successful student – a student who has been able to adapt, been able to trust, been able to display some leadership, also being able to mentor some of the younger students in some of the positive things they've been taught. Set aside being able to graduate and move on to some of the career opportunities or college opportunities; whatever their goal, seeing them meet their goal. Meet their goal is how I see success in a student.

Variables at the School Level that Reduce Truancy

Magnet schools, single-sex academies, and early college high school principals indicated that truancy was not an issue at their school, therefore, they did not define success in relation to truancy reduction programs, but instead defined success more generally. Principal #1 who has five years of experience in educational administration explained that truancy was not an issue within the district and that on average he only filed one truancy case a year. Principal #1 stated that he believes that there are two reasons that the district is so successful, he stated:

One has no doing on my part at all. So, one is just the parents and the community. Um, it is an affluent community. The parents value education and

so they want their students here. They want their children here and they make them come to school. They make them toe the line. That makes my job easier, in a sense. Two, I think the students enjoy coming to school here. There's not - we don't have a whole lot of problems; a whole lot of things that would cause a student not to want to be here. It's a safe place. It's a fun place. We do a lot of things on campus to try to make it fun for them.

Principal #1 provided an example. He described the cafeteria as a "Peach Pit," which was a popular hangout spot in a fictional television series in the nineties. During lunch, the students are not only eating lunch, but they're also playing games, such as, ping pong and foosball. In fact, Principal #1 said that students arrived early to school just to play before school starts. In addition to the games during lunch, Principal #1 stated that there were activity periods. During the thirty minute activity periods, students are allowed to pick what they want to do.

Principal #4 who has been in the field of education for fifteen years also indicated that truancy was not an issue at the school. At the time of this interview the magnet high school had a total of three hundred and eighty-six students enrolled. Principal #4 described the student population as diverse. Principal #4 explained that truancy was not a major issue and she explained why:

Well, first of all, our course work is rigorous. So, I think that even in the course work that we present to our students, when they come in, my freshmen take

college courses. So, everything that they do is either Pre-AP or AP and we're also on a block schedule. So, if you miss one day, that's like missing a week of school. It's a lot of information. And so, I think the amount of information that they receive and the rigor, it's really difficult to sort of catch up once you begin to miss school.

In addition to the rigorous course work, Principal #4 stated that since the school is small personal relationships are built that keep students wanting to come to school. When a student does not attend teachers will immediately call home to see what's going on with the student. Principal #4 described the effective communication and relationships developed among the teachers and the students:

I think part of the motivation as well is that these kids choose to come here. I think that choice may play a big factor in that. My kids are comfortable in their classrooms. When you go in my classrooms and look at the kids talking to the teacher, there's such a great student-teacher rapport. They get along fantastically. They're not afraid to make mistakes. They're okay. They're transparent in their learning. Like, "I don't get this.' 'What are you talking about?' And you kind of see the teachers and the kids joking around and they're comfortable. They're in an environment where they know that they're supported.

Principal #5, who oversees a magnet school indicated that truancy was not a big issue at his school; however, he explained that any child that is truant, whether it's one or two hundred, concerns me. According to Principal #5, one of the primary tactics that they use to work with truant students is communication. The first mode of communication would be through an interview. Typically, the interview consists of administrators and counselors and they work with the student to identify why they are not interested in attending school. The interview process helps students to make connections, establish relationships, and find strategies to make their school experience enjoyable.

Among his staff, Principal #5 said that he encouraged three R's: Relationships, Relevance, and Rigor. He explained the meaning of each concept and how the three R's ultimately related to student success:

They got to know that you care about them and their future. And I talk to my teachers. I had a meeting with them this morning. The first thing out of my mouth was the relationship piece. At the end of the year, keep those relationships going. The relevance is the learning purpose right? How will you use it in the future? The kids have to conceptualize in learning. How will they use this learning? Is it meaningful and purposeful for them? Does it relate to anything in their future lives? And so, the Rigor, I said, 'You know, you got to allow the kids – if you spoon feed, you're doing them a disservice. You're doing

more harm than good. That's educational malpractice.' But, today's kids have to be thinkers on their feet. Teach them how to use the information, but also how to use the latest technology. That's very important. So, those three R's, we talk about pretty frequently.

Principal #6 who as twenty-one years of experience as an educational administrator and oversees a single-sex academy indicated that truancy was not an issue at the school because it was a magnet school. The young ladies that apply to the school believe in the mission and vision of the school and want to be here to learn. Principal #6 explained the various elements that contributed to the successful student attendance rate:

I think first of all, the young ladies are removed from – in traditional – in co-ed classrooms, often times girls are – girls shut down because they don't feel that their voices are being heard and sometimes young men – not meaning to be – can be somewhat aggressive in classrooms. So, I think here, all these young ladies when they enter this school, they know that everyone here is smart. They know that that they're competing, you know, with one another, but they also understand the importance of supporting their sisters as they are matriculating from middle school to high school. And, I think the teachers play a vital role, because most of our classrooms – the sizes are – well, they're larger than they

have been, but you know, teachers do have an opportunity to have those one-onone conversations with our students.

Similarly, Principal #9 who has been an administrator at a single-sex academy for two years stated that truancy is not an issue at the school. When asked what she attributed to the lack of truancy, Principal #9 replied:

The lack of truancy is because this school is tailor-made for each child that attends it. And I know that sounds like an oxymoron. How can something be tailor-made for all students? And I tell you there's a way that that can happen. Number one our school is small. [The total school population is two seventy-two]. Okay, so – and then that's a middle high. Small, middle high and so we're able to know all of our students, number one, and you know, put our hands on them each day. The second thing that keeps our students coming to school every day is every school has its own beat, its own rhythm, or its own characteristics.

Ours is Lyceum. Lyceum is a time in the morning to zero hour.

Principal #9 stated that during Lyceum everything stops and all individuals in the school building report to the auditorium. Everyone recites the school's purpose, creed, and mission statement for the district and the school. After that, the staff and the administration teach lessons on habits of mind like perseverance, thinking flexibly, and working interdependently. The goal is to reach each student mentally, intellectually, emotionally, and socially.

Principal #17 who has twelve years of experience in educational administration indicated that truancy was not an issue at the high school; in fact, he stated that the school has one of the lowest dropout rates in the district. He attributed that to the school's status as a "community school" and to the presence of a culture of graduation. The concept of a community school simply means there is a high degree of parental involvement and support from the community. Principal #17 explained that the culture of graduation is developed through building relationships with students and the leadership at the school. According to Principal #17, the culture of graduation stems from the students knowing that dropping out and not coming to school will not be tolerated. The expectation is that graduation is something that is going to happen; not may happen. It's an idea that's been pushed towards the parents and the students. He further illustrated the idea:

When they come to [our school], they already know that, I'm coming because I know my student – my child is going to graduate. Because some of the parents that come to [our school] from other schools, they'll say, 'I want my kid to come to [this school] because I want him to graduate. So, sometimes that's expected from us, but for parents who may have never graduated from high school themselves or may not have had any siblings graduate, that's a big thing. So, our focus is trying to move them beyond just to graduate – that's an expected. But, these are the things that we want your child to be successful beyond graduation.

Due to the professional experience of the preceding administrators their definitions of success have been constructed differently than other administrators working in traditional high schools. Administrators at magnet schools, single-sex academies, and early college high schools overwhelmingly reported that there was not an issue of truancy at their respective schools due to high expectations and rigorous and engaging curriculum.

Summary of Findings

The interview data indicates that there is not a shared construct of success among stakeholders involved with truancy reduction programs. Parson's (1951; 1955) and Blumer's (1969) concepts of socialization and symbolic interactionism provide a foundation for examining the complex process of meaning making among the stakeholders within the Dallas County Truancy Court. Socialization refers to individual's acquisition of the rules and norms appropriate for specific social settings while symbolic interactionism occurs within the process of socialization and is the idea that humans develop meaning through interactions (Blumer 1969; Parsons, 1951, 1955). Judges, parents, non-profit administrators, and principals have been socialized through their families, professions, and institutions such as federal, state, and local government. Internal factors such as personal experience and external factors such as state legislation and other institutional elements influenced participants' definitions of success. The processes of socialization that take place impact stakeholders' definitions of success and

the process of symbolic interactionism causes those definitions to be constantly redefined. Based on the interview data it can be concluded that as a child, Judge A was socialized through his family to place a high value on education as a tool for economic self-sufficiency. Thus, for Judge A, success means graduating from high school and continuing on to further education, however, through his profession Judge A's definition of success is more narrow and directly related to the requirements of truancy law and the allowed number of absences. The following examples collected throughout the interview process illustrate internal and external factors that influenced stakeholders' definitions of success of the truancy reduction program:

Personal Experience:

Judge A described himself as a disciplined student that never missed a day of school kindergarten through twelfth grade

A non-profit administrator who was a high school dropout stated that there was a different path to success for everyone

Institutional Factors:

All Judges indicated that the court did not have access to information to track the academic components that could be used to define the success of students as a proxy for the truancy reduction programs

Several parents indicated that the school inaccurately reported their child's attendance

Three non-profit administrators defined success for the truancy reduction program as students completing the program because they did not have the resources or information to base the success of the truancy reduction program on any other factors

State Legislation

Judge D noted that his definition of success did not encompass any contextual issues (emotional, familial, and/or behavioral) that may have led to truancy because the role of the court was narrowly bound by law Several principals suggested that state legislation only allowed for a narrow definition of success based on AYP indicators

The court, families, state government, and schools operate within their own silos and they are only able to address issues that are within their realm of authority as dictated by law or institutional constraints. For example, judges and non-profit administrators are unable to address academic components because they do not have access to the necessary school information. Parents indicated that the school did not provide the appropriate level of support to ensure their child's success as the school focused on academics. The increased communication and collaboration of the

stakeholders allows for a more holistic view of students success as a proxy for the success of truancy reduction programs.

Judges, parents, non-profit administrators, and principals appeared to form their definition of success of the truancy reduction program through personal experiences and interactions with outside institutions such as the state legislature. Each stakeholder's definition of success was influenced by direct or indirect interactions with individuals within the organization or outside the organization that had the ability to influence organizational policies. Such an approach is an example of Herman's and Renz's (1999) theory of social construction that suggests that the notion of effectiveness is a social construct created by the interactions of multiple stakeholders within and outside organizations. Herman and Renz (1999) suggest that effectiveness is not an objective reality, but "rather effectiveness is a social construction, an achievement of organizational agents and other stakeholders convincing each other that an organization is pursuing the right objectives in the right way" (Herman & Renz, 1999, p.109). This study supports Herman's and Renz's (1999) claims because judges, parents, non-profit administrators, and principals' definition of success were influenced by direct or indirect interactions with individuals within the organization or outside the organization that had an impact on organizational policies.

Fassett (2001) also explored this formation of definitions across organizations by analyzing the processes by which educational success and failure was constructed

and the impact that had on educational reform. Like the current study, the researcher found that participant definitions of success and non-success varied due to differing goals and values and therefore, concluded that success was socially constructed. Similar to Fassett (2001) this study also identified internal and external constructions of success. The internal constructions of success stemmed from stakeholders' personal experiences while the external constructions of success arose from legal mandates and legislation.

Definitions of success for an individual student as a proxy for the truancy reduction program fail to account for the institutional practices that may lead students to become truant. Some of these practices were highlighted by parents – students taking class roll, schools marking students absent who are in 'in-school suspension' (ISS), etc. Southwell (2006) suggests that schools as institutions are hesitant to look at themselves as causing truancy. Based on the interview data, schools acknowledge that problems within their institution, however, schools are operating with very limited resources and are hindered by constraints placed upon them by the state. In accordance with state truancy laws schools are required to ensure compliance. Specifically, in the state of Texas, schools are required to accurately monitor and report attendance, educate parents and students on truancy laws, and provide some type of intervention with a program or plan of action prior to referring a student to court (Texas Education Code, 2013).

Schools are required to maintain high attendance and graduation rates and exhibit

proficient levels of content mastery by students on state standardized assessments. Funding is based on meeting those requirements (Southwell, 2006). As an institution, schools have mandated definitions of success.

Defining success becomes even more complex when the existing class structures that prominent critical theorists such as Bourdieu (1989), Lareau (2003), and Marx and Engels (1888) identify is taken into account. Critical theorists would argue that the success of a child is predetermined based on where he/she falls on the social class spectrum. Lareau (2003) built on the ideas of Marx & Engels (1888) and Bourdieu (1989) and she would suggest that the current study's findings are based on the fact that if the student is from the affluent, dominant class, their social and cultural capital will be valued and rewarded in school, however, if a student is from the working class, their social and cultural capital will not be in consensus with what is valued by the dominant class, and therefore, those students will not be rewarded and their level of success is limited (Lareau, 2003). The affluent, dominant class also has the power to influence curriculum and course tracks and as a result the working class is classified as dumb, slow, or lazy because their values, norms, and skills do not mesh with what is valued at school. Most truant students come from working class families (Southwell, 2006). These claims espoused by critical theorists suggest that within society at large there are already multiple definitions of success that have been constructed based on a student's

class. These multiple definitions of success are legitimized by the idea that the United States, like most other developed countries is a meritocracy (Bourdieu 1989).

Berger and Luckmann (1966) would describe Bourdieu's (1989), Marx's and Engels' (1888), and Lareau's (2003) critical theorist views as taken for granted realities and thus would label stakeholder's definitions of success as taken for granted realities. Berger and Luckman (1966) would question the processes that create these realities. Schools assume that truancy is a result of individual deficiencies instead of acknowledging the impact of the existing class structure and the additional burden that may place on working class students (i.e hunger, homelessness, drug addiction, family violence, etc.). How are these structural conditions created to benefit affluent students? Why are affluent students perceived as "better" than working class students? What are the factors that reinforce that view of students? There is no clear answer to these questions because there are multiple realities in existence.

Findings from government commissioned studies such as the Coleman Report (1966) further reinforce this dichotomy between affluent and working class students which leads to contrasting definitions of success for students as proxies for the truancy reduction program. The initial findings of the Coleman Report (1966) indicated that student's family background, socioeconomic status, racial composition of the schools, and the student's perceived control in determining their future were far more related to academic achievement than the quality of a student's school. Stakeholders that

participated in this research project would disagree with Coleman's initial claims because they fail to account for institutional factors and instead blame individual and familial deficiencies. For example, institutional constraints such as poor attendance reporting, access to information, and other school processes also influence student success in relation to the truancy reduction programs. Educational legislation that has been introduced by the federal government also benefits the affluent student. Educational legislation is designed to provide guidelines for defining success. Most recently, No Child Left Behind (2008) was introduced to increase accountability at the individual school and district level. NCLB acknowledges the dichotomy between the affluent and subpopulations such as students with disabilities, economically disadvantaged students, students with limited English proficiency, and racial minorities, and as a result, achieving adequate yearly progress (AYP) is based on increasing the levels of student success within these subpopulation categories. Stakeholders indicated that it was difficult to define success because educational legislation such as NCLB already provided strict guidelines for what constitutes success. Graduation, attendance rates, retention rates, standardized assessments, and the rate of completion of advanced placement and college preparatory courses are used to calculate the AYP of a school; therefore, stakeholders used the same indicators to define success.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSION

This research project examined the following research questions: 1) What are the challenges faced in defining the measurement of success when multiple organizations with multiple stakeholders are involved in a decentralized arrangement?

2) How is success of a truancy reduction program defined by school districts, school principals, parents, and judges? 3) Is the definition of success used by schools, districts, and the state the same as the definition of success used by key stakeholders and nonprofit organizations that work with truant students? All questions were addressed and the interview data suggested that there is not a shared construct of success in relation to truancy reduction programs among stakeholders within the Dallas County Truancy Court due to institutional constraints and personal/professional experience.

Implications, Directions for Future Study, and Policy Recommendations

The findings in the current study indicate that stakeholders have varying perceptions of the definition of success based on internal and external constructions. The stakeholders included in the current study are judges, parents, non-profit administrators, and principals. Future research could include student's definition of success since most stakeholders definition of success is in relation to the success of individual students. In addition, future research could interview multiple participants within the same organization or institution to determine if definitions vary within

institutions or organizations or just within the organizational field. Based on the findings three policy recommendations are proposed for developing a consistent definition for success among organizational fields within institutions, such as the Dallas County Truancy Court. The first is specific to all stakeholders. It is recommended that there is increased collaboration among stakeholders to facilitate the flow of information. The last two are more specific to district, state, and federal policy which dictates the definition of success within school districts. A reevaluation is needed of curriculum requirements and state testing and more emphasis is needed on the career aspect of the College and Career Readiness Standards.

The current research indicates that stakeholders operate within their own organizational silos and focus on only one aspect of defining success around truancy. Numerous studies have shown that truancy is a multi-faced issue and more success can be achieved through the collaboration of multiple stakeholders (Bell, Rosen, & Dynlacht, 1994; Bazemoire, Sitnchcomb, & Leip, 2004; Byer and Kuhn, 2003). Increased interaction among the stakeholders could also facilitate the development of a more consistent definition of success for the truancy reduction program. Additionally, the interview data indicated that judges, parents, non-profits and principals had limited definitions of success because they did not have access to pertinent student information such as school discipline reports, 504 plans, individual education plans, attendance records, grades (six weeks average, overall GPA, and standardized assessments),

students' schedule of classes, police record, and court documents. Each stakeholder has access to some student information; however, no individual stakeholder has access to all of these elements of a student's record making it difficult to effectively assist the student and provide a definition of success.

Federal legislation such as The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) at times makes it cumbersome to share information across institutions.

FERPA was created to protect the privacy of student education records. Parents and eligible students have the right to examine and review educational records and request corrections. Eligible students are those eighteen years of age or older attending a secondary or post-secondary educational institution. The law states that no information from the student's educational record can be released without the parent's or eligible student's written consent; however, FERPA guidelines do allow schools the discretion to disclose student's educational records without consent to the following entities in these specific instances:

School officials with legitimate educational interest;

Other schools to which a student is transferring;

Specified officials for audit or evaluation purposes;

Appropriate parties in connection with financial aid to a student;

Organizations conducting certain studies for or on behalf of the school;

Accrediting organizations;

To comply with a judicial order or lawfully issued subpoena;

Appropriate officials in cases of health and safety emergencies; and

State and local authorities, within a juvenile justice system, pursuant to specific state laws (United States Department of Education, 2014)

The majority of the stakeholders involved with the Dallas County Truancy Court already have general guidelines through their professions (i.e. judges, layers, social workers, principals, etc.) for protecting records whether they are for a juvenile or an adult. Currently, most stakeholders within the Dallas County Truancy Court have to rely on student and parent self-reports for information which are not always accurate. The guidelines set forth for sharing information across institutions by FERPA allows judges to access student records, but does not explicitly state that non-profit organizations affiliated with the state or local authorities can have access to student records. Principals within the various districts are limited to information obtained within that educational institution. The non-profit organizations work more closely with the student and have the flexibility to cater the services to fit the student's needs so that they can be successful. The flow of information will also facilitate a more comprehensive and consistent definition of success among stakeholders across institutions.

The next two policy recommendations are interrelated. A re-evaluation of curriculum requirements and reassessment of state testing, along with placing more emphasis on the career aspect of the College and Career Readiness Standards can make

a great impact on developing a definition of success that responds to the diversity of high school students in the Dallas court system schools. The uniformly mandated curriculum does not engage students. Several stakeholders suggested that the educational system was broken and that the curriculum needed to be redeveloped to accommodate for students that were not interested in an academic track. Mark Phillips (2012), an educational teacher and journalist, suggests that there is a blue-collar stigma in our white-collar society. Phillips (2012) states that this bias is destructive to our society because schools steer students away from vocational programs, thus depriving students of twenty-first century skills that are needed to compete in the global market. Opponents of the vocational track suggest that tracking students to determine their placement on the various tracks has been associated with the discrimination of students based on race and social class. Tracking refers to the widespread practice of sorting students based on their academic ability or perceived aspirations in the public educational system and beyond (Oakes, Selvin, Karoly, & Guiton, 1992). Research supports the view of the opponents of the vocational track by finding that tracking inadvertently sorts immigrant and minority students into lower, less rigorous tracks such as vocational curriculum while their white counterparts are placed on academic tracks with more rigorous curriculum that prepares them to be college ready. The racial and socioeconomic implications associated with tracking have also resulted in a reduction of vocational programs offered at the high school level; however, Oakes, Selvin, Karoly,

and Guiton (1992) propose that that there is no discrimination based on race or class when tracking students, but that students' tracks correspond with the achievement gap (Oakes, Selvin, Karoly, & Guiton, 1992). The achievement gap refers to the disparity in educational outcomes between different groups within the student population, namely Caucasians, African Americans, and Hispanics (Oakes, Selvin, Karoly, & Guiton, 1992).

While there are those that oppose vocational programs due to the risk of tracking and its potential effects, there are also proponents of vocational programs in high school educational settings (Lynch, 2000). Proponents of the vocational track suggest that career education provides opportunities for those most at risk of being left behind. Advocates for the vocational track see the programs as another avenue for students to be successful because instead of menial low skills jobs, students can have a specialized skill set (Phillips, 2012). Some proponents even recommend what they term "new vocational education" which is in essence a hybrid of the academic and vocational track (Lynch, 2000). Lynch (2000) states that "the purposes of high school career and technical education are":

Providing career exploration and planning

Enhancing academic achievement and motivation to learn more

Acquiring generic work competencies and skills useful for employment

Establishing pathways for continuing education and lifelong learning

(Lynch, 2000, p. viii).

State testing was identified as one of the state's major indicators of success for schools and students; therefore, schools place a huge emphasis on test scores. Several stakeholders questioned whether state-mandated tests were an accurate measure of success. The state should reassess the need for state-mandated testing and how the results of testing are used outside of the school, such as the court system. Currently, the state uses the test scores to rank schools; however, the data may be better used to determine areas that students excel and struggle in and to develop curriculum more reflective of skills that students need to develop. If the various stakeholders affiliated with the Dallas County Truancy Court and policy makers review and implement these policy recommendations, a more consistent definition of success can be developed and students can be better serviced within the truancy reduction program.

APPENDIX A LETTER FOR SOLICITING PARTICIPATION

GENERAL LETTER REQUESTIONG PRINCIPALS, NON-PROFITS, AND JUDGES' PARTICIPATION

Good Afternoon,

My name is Veronica Cole and I am a doctoral candidate at The University of Texas in Arlington in the department of urban and public administration. I have reached the final stages of my long, arduous journey...the dissertation process. I am looking forward to conducting research and adding to the continuing body of literature concerning truancy reduction programs. My research project is entitled "Effective Truancy Reduction Programs and the Measure of Success" and will focus on how key stakeholders define the success of truancy reduction programs.

To conduct my study I am seeking judges, administrators, parents of truant students, and non-profit organization administrators. I am writing this email to request your participation in my study. Your participation will entail an interview (60 minutes). The interview will be in-person and recorded. If you agree to participate in the study, a consent form will be emailed to you at least 48 hours prior to the interview so that you can have time to review the procedures and a hard copy will be provided prior to beginning the interview during the scheduled time.

Once the research has been completed, I will provide you with a copy of your interview (prior to including the information in my dissertation), in addition to my findings so that you can use it for program evaluation and/or program modifications.

If you can assist with this research endeavor, please let me know so that we can schedule a time to meet. Thank-you for your time and I look forward to hearing from you.

Sincerely,

Veronica Cole

Veronica.cole@mavs.uta.edu

972-849-1495

LETTER REQUESTING THE PARTICIPATION OF PRINCIPALS IN THE RICHARDSON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT

Good Afternoon,

My name is Veronica Cole and I am a doctoral candidate at The University of Texas in Arlington in the department of urban and public administration, as well as, a teacher in RISD. I have reached the final stages of my long, arduous journey...the dissertation process. I am looking forward to conducting research and adding to the continuing body of literature concerning truancy reduction programs. My research will focus on the impact that truancy reduction programs have on student success.

I am writing this email to request your participation in my study. Your participation will entail an interview (60 minutes). Once the research has been completed, I will provide you with a copy of your interview (prior to including the information in my dissertation), in addition to my findings so that you can use it for program evaluation and/or program modifications.

I have already contacted the RISD central office to request approval and this was the response I received from Allie Callaway:

RISD does not provide letters giving permission to interview individuals for graduate or post-graduate work. You need to contact a principal or administrator and explain to them your reasons and criteria. It would be up to that individual to decide if they want to participate in your request.

If you can assist with this research endeavor, please let me know so that we can schedule a time to meet. Thank-you for your time and I look forward to hearing from you.

Sincerely,

Veronica Cole

Veronica.cole@risd.org

972-849-1495

APPENDIX B PHONE SCRIPTS FOR SOLICITING PARTICIPATION

PHONE SCRIPT FOR JUDGES

α .		C	7	. 1	
Scri	nt	tor	- 1	110	OPS
DCII	ρι	101	J	uu	وح

Hello, May I speak to ______? My name is Veronica Cole and I am a student at the University of Texas at Arlington and I am currently working on my dissertation. My dissertation topic concerns effective truancy reduction programs and the measurement of success. I am calling to request your participation in a 60 minute, in person, recorded interview about truancy reduction programs and the measurement of success from your perspective as a judge. If you agree to participate in the study, a consent form will be emailed to you at least 48 hours prior to the interview so that you can have time to review the procedures and a hard copy will be provided prior to beginning the interview during the scheduled time. Once the research has been completed, I will provide you with a copy of your interview (prior to including the information in my dissertation), in addition to my findings so that you can use it for program evaluation and/or program modifications. Would it be possible for you to assist with this research endeavor? When can we schedule a time to meet?

PHONE SCRIPT FOR NON-PROFIT ADMINISTRATORS

Script for Non-Profit Organizations
Hello, May I speak to? My name is Veronica Cole and I am a student
at the University of Texas at Arlington and I am currently working on my dissertation.
My dissertation topic concerns effective truancy reduction programs and the
measurement of success. I was referred to you by the Dallas County Truancy Court
program coordinator Trina Crosby. I am calling to request your participation in a 60
minute, in person, recorded interview about truancy reduction programs and the
measurement of success from your perspective as a non-profit administrator. If you
agree to participate in the study, a consent form will be emailed to you at least 48 hours
prior to the interview so that you can have time to review the procedures and a hard
copy will be provided prior to beginning the interview during the scheduled time. Once
the research has been completed, I will provide you with a copy of your interview (prior
to including the information in my dissertation), in addition to my findings so that you
can use it for program evaluation and/or program modifications. Would it be possible
for you to assist with this research endeavor? When can we schedule a time to meet?

$\label{eq:appendix} \mbox{APPENDIX C}$ $\mbox{APPLICATION FOR INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD}$

UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS AT ARLINGTON OFFICE OF RESEARCH COMPLIANCE

IRB FORM #1 INITIAL SUBMISSION OF A RESEARCH PROTOCOL TO THE INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD FOR THE PROTECTION OF HUMAN SUBJECTS

Faculty, staff, students, or employees who propose to engage in any research, demonstration, development, or other activity involving the use of human subjects must have review and approval of that activity by the Institutional Review Board, prior to initiation of that project. The Board is responsible for safeguarding the rights and welfare of subjects who participate in the activity.

If you require further assistance in completing this form or need additional information, please contact the Office of Research Compliance at extension 3723.

SECTION A: GENERAL INFORMATION

- 1. **Project Title:** Effective Truancy Reduction Programs and Measuring Success
- 2. Principal Investigator:

Name: Veronica Cole Title: Doctoral Candidate for Urban and Public Administration

• Mail Box: 350 E Vista Ridge Mall Dr, Apt 834

Lewisville, TX 75067

• **Telephone**: 972-849-1495 **Email**:

veronica.cole@mavs.uta.edu

3.	Co-In	vestigator:			
	•	Name:			
	•	Title:			
	•	Department	:		Mail Box:
	•	Telephone:			Email:
4.		nsible for con	nitting a protocol, ducting the resea Iaria Cosio-Martin	rch:	entify the faculty member
	•		iate Professor and		. D. Advisor
	•	Department	: Urban and Public	e Affairs	Mail Box: 19588
	•	Telephone:	817-272-3302	Ema	nil:mcosio@uta.edu
5.	-	search on hun	•		u are not authorized to start s approved the research
6.	Expec	ted Completi	on Date: June 20	13	

SECTION B: FUNDING If this research is not supported by funding, please skip to section C.

If you have or are seeking funding for your research, please specify the source.

7. Source:	FEDERAL (Specify Agency:
	☐ INDUSTRY SPONSORED (Specify Agency:)
	☐ Local Departmental ☐ State ☐ Other:
FUNDED GR	ANT / CONTRACT NUMBER:
☐ Check	here if grant is pending. Date of Grant Submission:
8. Do you pla	n to do the research if you do not receive funding? Yes
SECTION C:	SUMMARY OF THE RESEARCH PROTOCOL
Please answer	the following in simple, non-technical / non-exculpatory language.
9. List pr	imary research questions.
1)	How is the success of a truancy reduction program measured?
2)	Is the measure of success used by schools the same as the definition of success used by administrators, parents, and judges?
3)	Is the measure of success used by districts the same as the definition of success used by administrators, parents, and judges?
4)	Is the measure of success used by the state the same as the definition of success used by administrators, parents, and judges?
5)	Is the measure of success used by schools, districts, and the state the same as the definition of success used by nonprofit organizations and agencies that work with truant students?

A case study research design will be used to explore (6) Dallas County truancy reduction programs (Dallas ISD, Mesquite ISD, Richardson ISD, Garland ISD, Sunnyvale ISD, and Texans Can Academy. Data will be collected using structured interviews. In an effort to determine how success is measured Dallas County truancy court judges, administrators, nonprofit organizations, and parents will be interviewed to assess the rationale, goals, components, and outcomes of the truancy reduction program.

10. List potential benefits that may accrue to the study subjects as a result of their participation.

Potential benefits that may accrue to the study subjects as a result of their participation are:

- > The study will identify effective methods used in truancy reduction programs and thus could lead to the incorporation of various elements into the truancy reduction program to improve levels of student success
- Continuous evaluation is vital to any program. This study will identify different methods/perspectives for evaluating success of truancy reduction programs so that the needs of students involved with the program can be met and progress can be accurately measured
- 11. List potential benefits that may accrue to society as a result of this study.

Potential benefits that may accrue to society as a result of this study are:

- > The various perspectives of key stakeholders included in the study will provide a deeper understanding of truancy and how success is measured
- > The data collected throughout the study will provide ideas for program improvement and could result in the creation of a more educated workforce and increased levels of high school graduation

12. What are you and your research team's relevant qualifications to perform this research?
I have taken graduate level courses in evaluation research, social policy formation, research methods in criminal justice, educational policy issues, and advanced data analysis qualitative methods. I also have three years working in an educational setting as a teacher of social studies. In addition, my supervising professor has conducted school-based research, teaches graduate qualitative courses and will supervise my work in the field. 14. CHECK <u>ALL</u> RESEARCH PROCEDURES INVOLVING HUMAN SUBJECTS:
Any materials presented to the research subject (oral or written) may not ask of the subject to provide information about another human being who has not undergone the informed consent process (this includes the immediate family of the subject).
Collection of Blood State below the methods of collection (i.e. venipuncture, arterial puncture, etc.) Attach IRB Form #5 if a Tissue Repository is needed.
Collection of Other Bodily Materials State below the methods of collection. Please attach IRB Form #5 if a Tissue Repository is needed.
Analysis of Existing Data
Cognitive or Perceptual Experiment
☐ Evaluation of a Program or Services State below whether it is Federal, State, Local, or 'Other'.
Interview State below whether it is oral or written and attach a finalized copy.
Questionnaire or Survey Attach a finalized copy
☐ Induction of Mental or Physical Stress

☐ Use of Private Health Information State below the method for obtaining this data
☐ Use of Genomic DNA or cDNA
☐ Use of Infectious or Carcinogenic Materials
☐ Educational Test or Educational Materials (curriculum, books, etc.) <i>Attach</i> copies or describe in detail
☐ Observation of Public Behavior with PI Participation
☐ Observation of Public Behavior without PI Participation
Analysis of Existing Biological Specimens State below where the samples were obtained from, where they will be kept and for how long, and who will have access to them.
☐ Deception State below the debriefing procedures used
☐ Taste Test
☐ Medical Procedures (e.g. drug, device, radiation, surgery, non-surgical manipulation, non-invasive physical measurements, etc.)
☐ Materials Commonly Regarded as Socially Unacceptable
☐ Use of Identified Data/Specimens
☐ Use of Coded Data/Specimens
Use of Recombinant DNA Attach a copy of the IBC application for rDNA along with this submission to the IRB
☐ Use of Biohazardous Materials
Psychological Test Attach Applicable copies or describe in detail

14a. Please describe, in sufficient detail, the procedures for any checked items above. If you need more space, you may attach a separate sheet of paper.

Interview

Dallas County truancy court judges, administrators, nonprofit organizations, and parents will be interviewed to assess the rationale, goals, components, and outcomes of the truancy reduction program in an effort to determine how success is measured by individuals involved with the program. The interviews will be recorded using two devices: a traditional tape recorder and the recorder function of the i-phone. The only identifying information that will be included is demographic (i.e. age, race, occupation, addition, a coding system will be developed using numbers to district, etc.). In protect each participants' identity. After the interviews have been conducted and recorded, the recordings will be transcribed. After transcription, the recordings will be maintained in Dr. Maria Martinez-Cosio's office in University Hall 544. Protocol Included.

14b. If the proposed research <u>is limited to</u> the use of discarded materials or retrospective chart review and there are no identifiers associating the specimens or chart information with the donors, skip sections D through G. However, if the donors can be identified, fill out section D and then skip to section H.

SECTION D: STUDY POPULATION

15. Please indicate which, if any, of the following are involved:
UTA Staff
☐ UTA Faculty
UTA Students
Non-English Speaking People Attach the consent form and all applicable materials in the native language(s) of the subjects in the research
△ Adults competent to consent for themselves (non-UTA)

Mentally Incapacitated Attach IRB Form #2A
Children (Ages 0-17 years) Attach IRB Form #2D
Pregnant Women, Fetuses, or In Vitro Fertilization Attach IRB Form#2C
Prisoners Attach IRB Form #2C
16. Total number of subjects 100
17. Subject recruitment. Please summarize your explanation of how you will recruit subjects. Include location of recruitment and enrollment. <i>Please attach a copy of all recruitment flyers and ads</i> .
Subjects will be recruited using letters, direct person-to person contact, and by telephone from the Dallas County truancy court, nonprofit organizations that work in conjunction with the Dallas County truancy court, parents whose children have been referred to the Dallas County truancy court, and the six districts that work in conjunction with the Dallas County truancy court (Dallas ISD, Garland ISD, Mesquite ISD, Richardson ISD, Sunnyvale ISD, Texans Can Academy). Interviews will be conducted in person. If individuals agree to participate in the study, they will be emailed the consent form at least 48 hours prior to the interview so that they can have time to review the procedures and a hard copy will be provided prior to beginning the interview during the scheduled time. Examples of subject recruitment: Direct person- to person solicitation per consent form. Telephone (attach oral presentation) Letter (attach finalized copy) Notices (attach finalized copy) Internet (attach finalized copy) Subject pool Other (explain and / or attach finalized copy if applicable)
17a I ist all criteria for including subjects

Subjects must be an administrator employed by Dallas ISD, Garland ISD, Sunnyvale ISD, Richardson ISD, Mesquite ISD, or Texans Can Academy or a judge or program coordinator working in conjunction with the Dallas County truancy court. Subjects will also include parents who have a child that has been assigned to the Dallas County truancy court.

17b. List all criteria for excluding subjects.

Administrators not employed by Dallas ISD, Garland ISD, Sunnyvale ISD, Richardson ISD, Mesquite ISD, or Texans Can Academy or a judge or program coordinator not working in conjunction with the Dallas County truancy court. Parents who do not have a child that has been assigned to the Dallas County truancy court.

18. What rewards, remuneration, or other incentives, if any, will be used to recruit subjects?

None

- 19. If the subject is a student who is undergoing this research for a course credit, how will you ensure that the subject was not coerced into participating N/A
- 20. Will you allow alternatives to the participation in the research without negative consequences? The administrators', judges', parents', and non-profit organizations' choice to participate will have no affect on their involvement with the program being evaluated.

SECTION E: CONFIDENTIALITY – PRIVACY – COERCION

21. Does this activity utilize data collected for other purposes? (e.g. student record, student assessments, patient records, etc.) (If this is for a data

repository, please complete and attach an IRB Form #5 as well as a Consent Form for Data Repositories)

 \square YES \boxtimes NO

- a. If yes, please specify the source of data to be utilized and how the data will be retrieved and reviewed.
- b. Could any of the recorded data contain personal or sensitive information? If yes, how do you propose to code and where will you maintain confidentiality of the data? Personal/sensitive information of judges, administrators, and parents will not be used to in the presentation of the data or results, however, the judges', administrators', and parents' recorded interviews may contain identifying information so all records will be kept in a locked file cabinet in Dr. Maria Martinez-Cosio's office, University Hall 544.

(Any subject data (including documents, audio, and videotapes) developed for or used by a human subject investigation protocol are potentially sensitive and must be maintained with confidentiality. All identifiable data are to be kept in a designated locked file. Sharing of identifiable data with other institutions, agencies, or companies must be identified prospectively to both the IRB and the subjects of the study.)

22. Could any part of this activity result in the potential identification of child abuse, elderly abuse, communicable diseases, or criminal activities that would / could not have been otherwise identified? If yes, estimate the likelihood of disclosure and describe the plan of action that you will take if this occurs. In rare circumstances when research reveals these issues, confidentiality should be maintained to the extent that the law allows.

□YES ⋈ NO

23. Does any part of this activity have the potential for coercion of the subject? If yes, explain and describe proposed safeguards.

□YES ⊠NO	
24. Please explain how you plan to maintain confidentiality. Include where your signed consent forms and identifiable data, if applicable, will be kept (under lock and key) and who will have access.	
I will maintain confidentiality by using keeping all identifiable data and consent forms under lock and key.	
SECTION F: RISKS - PSYCHOLOGICAL RISKS	
25. Aside from possible loss of confidentiality, is there a possibility of psychological injury resulting from participating in the research?	
□YES ⊠NO	
26. If you answered yes, how do you plan to minimize and control the risks?	
27. Could the desired information be obtained from animals or other laboratory models? Explain.	
□YES ⊠NO	
In the event of an adverse event, you must fill out the IRB Form #8 to report the even to the Institutional Review Board for the protection of human subjects immediately.	ıt
SECTION G: RISKS - PHYSICAL RISKS	
28. Is there a possibility of physical injury resulting from participation in the	

research?

YES	⊠NO
29. If you	answered yes, how do you plan to minimize and control the risks?
	d the desired information be obtained from animals or other atory models? Explain.
YES	⊠ NO
	of an adverse event, you must fill out the IRB Form #8 to report the event tional Review Board for the protection of human subjects <u>immediately</u> .
SECTION H	I: COST OF RESEARCH
	the subjects incur any additional expenses for experimental (or wise unnecessary diagnostic) tests or procedures? If yes, explain
YES	⊠NO
32. explain.	Is there any charge to the participant for participation? If yes,
YES	⊠NO
SECTION I	: INFORMED CONSENT

33. Written, informed consent from the subject or from a legally responsible representative of the subject is normally required from the human research participants. The finalized consent form in all applicable languages should be included with the materials submitted to the IRB. You must keep all signed consent forms under lock and key during the study and for a period

of 3 years after termination of the research on UTA Campus. These consent forms are subject to inspection by the Research Compliance Officer, the IRB and / or DHHS.

If you do not plan to obtain consent or written documentation of consent, please attach a completed IRB Form # 3.

- a. If appropriate, describe your rationale for obtaining oral consent or assent instead of written consent. Attach a copy of the information to be read and given to the subjects.
- b. Do you plan to make consent forms available in the native language for all subjects involved in the research? Please explain your procedures in determining the primary language spoken by the subjects and how you plan to deliver the informed consent process to subjects who do not speak English.

TITE		
YES	\bowtie N	O

SECTION J: COOPERATIVE AGREEMENTS WITH OTHER INSTITUTIONS

34. If any part of this study will be conducted in an institution or location administratively separate from UTA, please indicate at which institution (attach an approval letter). Dallas County Truancy Court, Dallas ISD, Sunnyvale ISD, Garland ISD, Richardson ISD, Mesquite ISD, and Texans Can Academy.

35.

a. Does this activity utilize recorded data to be sent to cooperating institutions, or agencies not under your control?

YES	• •	ne data contain personal pant in any type of lega		ation or
	c. If yes, how do data?	you propose to maintai	n the confidentiality	of the
SECTIO	N K: CONSULTAT	TION AND COLLABO	RATION	
36. Su	ibject recruitment a	and management:		
managem individua	nent of the subjects,	other professionals for please identify and obt the subjects. If unobta	ain signature(s) from	n the
Name of 1	Professional	Department	Signature	Date
1				
2				
3				

36. Research collaboration:

Research collaborators are other researchers whose participation enhances the scientific merit of a research project. Have all collaborators indicate by signing

this document that they have read the research protocol and agree to participate. If unobtainable, please explain or attach a signed agreement or letter.

Nar Date	ne of Collaborator	Department	Signature
1.			
2.			
3.		_	
37. Have chair listing a	: CONFLICT OF INTER you submitted a financia all of your significant Texas at Arlington confl	l disclosure statement financial interests in	to your department n accordance with The
YES	⊠NO		
intere	our department chair find st and did he/she forward lent for Research and Inf	d the statement to the	Dean and / or the Vice
YES	⊠NO		
39. If yes,	please explain the condi	tions and restrictions i	mposed. If the conflict

of interest is still pending review, please indicate here.

YES	\square NO
	l your department chair forward the original statement to the Office of search?
□YES	□NO
SECTION	M: SIGNATURES

I understand that I am responsible for the accuracy of the statements made in this protocol and for the conduct of research.

I understand that I am to submit annual reviews to the Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Subjects. If the annual report (IRB FORM #7) has not been received by the IRB Chair (or designee) by the anniversary date of the approval, this protocol's approval is terminated.

I understand that I am to file a final report upon conclusion of the research with the Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Subjects (IRB FORM #7).

I understand that if my research is under a sponsored research agreement, additional standards may apply.

I am aware that the signed consent forms need to be filed under lock and key during the research and for a period of 3 years upon termination of the research (if unfunded). For funded research, the consent forms will be kept for the length established under the terms and conditions of the award. These consent forms will be available for inspection by the Research Compliance Officer or agents from Federal Agencies.

I understand that I, as well as all Human Subject Investigators involved in this study, must have documented Human Subject training in the Office of Research before performing any Human Subject research.

Principal Investigator	Date
I have examined this completed form and I am satisfied with the proposed research design and the measures proposed for the proposed. I will take responsibility for informing the student of safekeeping of all raw data (e.g. test protocols, tapes, questionn notes, etc.) in a university office or computer file.	rotection of Human the need for
Faculty Sponsor (If not the Principal Investigator)	Date
I have read this completed form and endorse this research to be	e conducted.
Department Chairman or Dean or Director	Date

APPENDIX D SCHOOL DISTRICT RESEARCH APPPROVAL LETTERS

GARDLAND INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT RESEARCH APPROVAL LETTER

Ms. Veronica Cole 350 E. Vista Ridge Mall Drive, Apt 834 Lewisville, TX 75067

February 11, 2013

Dear Ms. Cole:

Thank you for the recent submission of your independent research project application for your study, *Effective Truancy Reduction Programs and the Measure of Success*. This letter is to inform you that your application documents have been reviewed. The review committee is pleased to provide **conditional approval** for participation in your study within the Garland Independent School District.

In order to proceed with your work on this project within the Garland Independent School District, the following conditions must be met: Approval is dependent on approval by your university. If significant changes to your study are made by the IRB or your research committee, you must resubmit this application. Furthermore, university approval must be received by the PRE office prior to contact being made with any district personnel. Participation may not be sought from campus administration as they do not have the depth of knowledge about the truancy program to be able to sufficiently respond to your inquiries. Study participation is limited to district-level administration. Upon meeting the above conditions, you may contact Ms. Wendy Brower, (972) 494-8255 or wlbrower@garlandisd.net, regarding study participation. Ms. Brower, or her designee, should have sufficient knowledge to provide you with an understanding of the truancy program as it exists in GISD. Individual student/parent information may not be provided by GISD in relation to this study. District participation is limited to providing program descriptions.

Please be advised that this conditional approval expires on May 31, 2013. Should you be unable to complete your research activities prior to this deadline, you are required to request an extension of the timeline. Extensions are granted based on extenuating

circumstances, so please be sure to provide a detailed explanation of the need for the extension if requested.

It is evident that this is a research topic that you are very dedicated to and we wish you well with your continued work on this project.

Best wishes,

Dr. Kimberly Klakamp

DALLAS INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT RESEARCH APPROVAL LETTER

Mike Miles Superintendent of Schools



February 28, 2013

Miss Veronica Cole The University of Texas at Arlington 350 E. Vista Ridge Mall Drive, Apt. 834 Lewisville, TX 75067

RE: Effective Truancy Reduction Programs and the Measure of Student Success

Dear Miss Cole:

The Research Review Board (RRB) of the Dallas Independent School District (Dallas ISD) has reviewed and approved your proposal to conduct the above-referenced study. Based on the information provided, the committee concludes that the study serves a worthwhile purpose and will benefit the district.

It is our understanding that you have read and agreed to the terms described in the *Procedures and Policies for Conducting Extra-District Research in the Dallas Independent School District.* Please note that all school and district information, wherever applicable, should remain confidential within the limits of the law. In addition, any data collected from Dallas ISD may be used solely for the purposes of the approved study.

Approval by the RRB does not guarantee that any Dallas ISD department, school, or employee will comply with data requests for the study. If the study involves collection of primary data at a school or schools, the permission of the building principal(s) must be obtained separately from this approval.

Please provide the RRB with a copy of any data file constructed using Dallas ISD student or personnel information, and a copy of your final report, within 30 days following the completion of the study. In all future communications, please use the study's reference number (12-055).

On behalf of the committee, I wish you the best of luck with your study.

Sincerely,

Dorothea Weir, Ph. D. Chair, Research Review Board Office of Applied Research

Department of Evaluation and Assessment

Dorothea Weir

Dallas Independent School District

$\label{eq:appendix} \mbox{APPENDIX E} \\ \mbox{INFORMED CONSENT FOR PARENTS, JUDGES, AND NON-PROFIT} \\ \mbox{ADMINISTRATORS}$

Informed Consent Document

For Parents, Administrators, and Judges

PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR

Veronica Cole, School of Urban and Public Affairs Contact Information: <u>veronica.cole@risd.org</u> 972-849-1495

FACULTY ADVISOR

Dr. Maria Martinez-Cosio, Department of Urban and Public Affairs Associate Professor and PUAD PH.D. Contact Information: 817-272-3302

TITLE OF PROJECT

Effective Truancy Reduction Programs and the Measure of Success

INTRODUCTION

You are being asked to participate in a research study about truancy reduction programs and their impact on student success. Your participation is voluntary. Refusal to participate or discontinuing your participation at any time will involve no penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled. Please ask questions if there is anything you do not understand.

PURPOSE

The specific purpose of this research is to fully explore truancy reduction programs in an effort to determine best practices and to provide insight into how more students can leave school prepared to flourish in the United States' increasingly competitive, globalized society.

DURATION

Participation in this study will last approximately 60 minutes.

NUMBER OF PARTICIPANTS

The number of anticipated participants in this research study is 100

PROCEDURES

Participants will be contacted via email, by telephone, or direct person contact. The procedure which will involve you as a research participant is an interview. The interview will take place at the participants' office or at the Dallas County Truancy Court. Interviews will be conducted in person.

1

IRB Approval Date:

IAN 2 8 2013

IRB Expiration Date:

JAN 2 8 2014

Informed Consent Document

For Parents, Administrators, and Judges

The interview will be audio recorded. After the interview, the tape will be transcribed, which means they will be typed exactly as they were recorded, word-for-word, by the researcher. The tape will be destroyed after transcription.

POSSIBLE BENEFITS

Potential benefits that may accrue to society as a result of this study:

- > Increase in high school graduates, resulting in a more educated workforce
- > Decrease in delinquent activity related to the occurrence of truancy
- > Decrease in the amount of federal aid needed for social programs

POSSIBLE RISKS/DISCOMFORTS

There are no perceived risks or discomforts for participating in this research study. Should you experience any discomfort please inform the researcher, you have the right to quit any study procedures at any time at no consequence.

COMPENSATION

No compensation will be offered for participation in this study.

ALTERNATIVE PROCEDURES

There are no alternative procedures offered for this study. However, you can elect not to participate in the study or quit at any time at no consequence.

VOLUNTARY PARTICIPATION

Participation in this research study is voluntary. You have the right to decline participation in any or all study procedures or quit at any time at no consequence.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Every attempt will be made to see that your study results are kept confidential. A copy of this signed consent form and all data collected including transcriptions/tapes from this study, will be stored in University Hall 544 at UTA for at least three (3) years after the end of this research. The results of this study may be published and/or presented at meetings without naming you as a participant. Additional research studies could evolve from the information you have provided, but your information will not be linked to you in anyway; it will be anonymous. Although your rights and privacy will be maintained, the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services, the UTA Institutional Review Board (IRB), and personnel particular to this research have access to the study records. Your records will be kept completely confidential according to current legal requirements. They will not be revealed unless required by law, or as noted above. The IRB at UTA has reviewed and approved this study and the information within this consent form. If in the unlikely event it becomes necessary for the Institutional Review

IRB Approval Date:

JAN 28 2013

IRB Expiration Date:

JAN 28 2014

Informed Consent Document

For Parents, Administrators, and Judges Board to review your research records, the University of Texas at Arlington will protect the confidentiality of those records to the extent permitted by law.

CONTACT FOR QUESTIONS

Questions about this research study may be directed to:

Veronica Cole 972-849-1495 Veronica.cole@mavs.uta.edu

Dr. Maria Martinez-Cosio 817-272-3302 mcosio@uta.edu

Any questions you may have about your rights as a research participant or a research-related injury may be directed to the Office of Research Administration; Regulatory Services at 817-272-2105 or regulatoryservices@uta.edu.

As a representative of this study, I have explained the purpose, the procedures, the benefits, and the risks that are involved in this research study:

Signature and printed name of principal investigator or person obtaining consent

Date

CONSENT

By signing below, you confirm that you are 18 years of age or older and have read or had this document read to you. You have been informed about this study's purpose, procedures, possible benefits and risks, and you have received a copy of this form. You have been given the opportunity to ask questions before you sign, and you have been told that you can ask other questions at any time.

You voluntarily agree to participate in this study. By signing this form, you are not waiving any of your legal rights. Refusal to participate will involve no penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled. You may discontinue participation at any time without penalty or loss of benefits, to which you are otherwise entitled.

SIGNATURE OF VOLUNTEER

DATE

IRB Approval Date:

IAN 28 2013

IRB Expiration Date:

JAN 2 8 2014

APPENDIX F INFORMED CONSENT FOR DISD PRINCIPALS

Informed Consent Document

For Parents, Administrators, and Judges

PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR

Veronica Cole, School of Urban and Public Affairs Contact Information: <u>veronica.cole@risd.org</u> 972-849-1495

FACULTY ADVISOR

Dr. Maria Martinez-Cosio, Department of Urban and Public Affairs Associate Professor and PUAD PH.D. Contact Information: 817-272-3302

TITLE OF PROJECT

Effective Truancy Reduction Programs and the Measure of Success

INTRODUCTION

You are being asked to participate in a research study about truancy reduction programs and their impact on student success. Your participation is voluntary. Refusal to participate or discontinuing your participation at any time will involve no penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled. Please ask questions if there is anything you do not understand.

PURPOSE

The specific purpose of this research is to fully explore truancy reduction programs in an effort to determine best practices and to provide insight into how more students can leave school prepared to flourish in the United States' increasingly competitive, globalized society.

DURATION

Participation in this study will last approximately 60 minutes.

NUMBER OF PARTICIPANTS

The number of anticipated participants in this research study is 100

PROCEDURES

Participants will be contacted via email, by telephone, or direct person contact. The procedure which will involve you as a research participant is an interview. The interview will take place at the participants' office or at the Dallas County Truancy Court. Interviews will be conducted in person.

APPROVED

IRB Approval Date:

MAR 0 5 2013

JAN 28 2014

Institutional Review Board

IRB Expiration Date:

1

Informed Consent Document

For Parents, Administrators, and Judges

The interview will be audio recorded. After the interview, the tape will be transcribed, which means they will be typed exactly as they were recorded, word-for-word, by the researcher. The tape will be destroyed after transcription.

POSSIBLE BENEFITS

Potential benefits that may accrue to society as a result of this study:

- Increase in high school graduates, resulting in a more educated workforce
- > Decrease in delinquent activity related to the occurrence of truancy
- Decrease in the amount of federal aid needed for social programs

POSSIBLE RISKS/DISCOMFORTS

There are no perceived risks or discomforts for participating in this research study. Should you experience any discomfort please inform the researcher, you have the right to quit any study procedures at any time at no consequence.

COMPENSATION

No compensation will be offered for participation in this study.

ALTERNATIVE PROCEDURES

There are no alternative procedures offered for this study. However, you can elect not to participate in the study or quit at any time at no consequence.

VOLUNTARY PARTICIPATION

Participation in this research study is voluntary. You have the right to decline participation in any or all study procedures or quit at any time at no consequence.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Every attempt will be made to see that your study results are kept confidential. A copy of this signed consent form and all data collected including transcriptions/tapes from this study, will be stored in University Hall 544 at UTA for at least three (3) years after the end of this research. The results of this study may be published and/or presented at meetings without naming you as a participant. Additional research studies could evolve from the information you have provided, but your information will not be linked to you in anyway; it will be anonymous. Although your rights and privacy will be maintained, the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services, the UTA Institutional Review Board (IRB), and personnel particular to this research have access to the study records. Your records will be kept completely confidential according to current legal requirements. They will not be revealed unless required by law, or as noted above. The IRB at UTA has reviewed and approved this study and the information within this consent form. If in the unlikely event it becomes necessary for the Institutional Review

IRB Approval Date:

APPROVED

JAN 2 8 2014

IRB Expiration Date:

Institutional Review Board

MAR 0 5 2013

Informed Consent Document

For Parents, Administrators, and Judges Board to review your research records, the University of Texas at Arlington will protect the confidentiality of those records to the extent permitted by law.

CONTACT FOR QUESTIONS

Questions about this research study may be directed to:

Veronica Cole 972-849-1495 Veronica.cole@mavs.uta.edu

Dr. Maria Martinez-Cosio 817-272-3302 mcosio@uta.edu

Any questions you may have about your rights as a research participant or a research-related injury may be directed to the Office of Research Administration; Regulatory Services at 817-272-2105 or regulatoryservices@uta.edu.

As a representative of this study, I have explained the purpose, the procedures, the benefits, and the risks that are involved in this research study:

Signature and printed name of principal investigator or person obtaining consent

Date

CONSENT

By signing below, you confirm that you are 18 years of age or older and have read or had this document read to you. You have been informed about this study's purpose, procedures, possible benefits and risks, and you have received a copy of this form. You have been given the opportunity to ask questions before you sign, and you have been told that you can ask other questions at any time. Your signature confirms that you understand that, while this project has been reviewed by the Dallas Independent School District, Dallas ISD is not conducting the project activities.

You voluntarily agree to participate in this study. By signing this form, you are not waiving any of your legal rights. Refusal to participate will involve no penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled. You may discontinue participation at any time without penalty or loss of benefits, to which you are otherwise entitled.

SIGNATURE OF VOLUNTEER

DATE

3

IRB Approval Date:

MAK U 5 ZUIS

JAN 28 2014

IRB Expiration Date:

5. 4. 5. 0

Institutional Review Board

APPENDIX G INTERVIEW PROTOCOL FOR PARENTS

Parent Interview Questions

- 1. What district does your child attend?
- 2. How long has your child attended that district?
- 3. What school districts has your child attended previously?
- 4. What is your child's grade level?
- 5. How old is your child?
- 6. What is the race/ethnicity of your child?
- 7. How helpful was the truancy reduction program to your child?
- 8. Did the truancy reduction program help your child stay in school?
- 9. Did the truancy reduction program improve your child's grades?
- 10. What elements of the school district's truancy reduction efforts have been most beneficial for your child? Why?
- 11. What elements of the school district's truancy reduction efforts have been ineffective for your child? Why?
- 12. Are there any elements that you would like to see added to the district's truancy initiatives? If so, what?

APPENDIX H

INTERVIEW PROTOCOL FOR JUDGES, NON-PROFIT ADMINISTRATORS, AND PRINCIPALS

Protocol:

- 1. What is your specific title and job responsibilities?
- 2. Describe your background for your current position including your educational experiences, job experiences, or special training.
- 3. How many years have you been a part of the truancy reduction program?
- 4. How does your program define student success?
- 5. What are the goals of the truancy reduction program?
- 6. What are the major components of your truancy reduction program?
- 7. Are there any organizations or agencies that you partner with? If yes, what are they and what services do they provide?
- 8. What is the history and some of the contextual factors involving the creation of the truancy program?
- 9. In your opinion, what are characteristics of an effective truancy reduction program? Why?

REFERENCES

- American Civil Liberties Union. (2008). *School-to-prison pipeline*. Retrieved August 13, 2013, from https://www.aclu.org/school-prison-pipeline
- Ayala, E., Hallman, T., Leszcynski, R., & Weiss, J. (2013). Truancy Dallas county students' on campus arrests spur debate. *The Dallas Morning News*.
- Baker, M., Sigmon, J., & Nugent, M. (2001). *Truancy reduction: Keeping students in school*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.
- Balfanz, R., & Byrnes, V. (2012). *Chronic absenteeism: Summarizing what we know from nationally available data*. Baltimore: John Hopkins University Center for Social Organization of Schools.
- Bazemore, G., Stinchcomb, J., & Leip, L. (2004). Scared smart or bored straight?

 Testing deterrence logic in an evaluation of police-led truancy intervention. *Justice Quarterly*, 21(2), 269-299.
- Bell, A., Rosen, L., & Dynlacht, D. (1994). Truancy intervention. *The Journal of Research and Development in Education*, 27, 203-211.

- Berger, P., & Luckmann, T. (1966). *The social construction of reality: A treatise in the sociology of knowledge*. New York: Penguin.
- Blumer, H. (1969). *Symbolic interactionism: Perspective and method*. New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- Bourdeiu, P. (1977). Reproduction in education, society, and culture. London: Sage.
- Bourdieu, P. (1989). Social space and symbolic power. *Sociological Theory*, 7(1), 14-25.
- Burke, L., & Sheffield, R. (2013). School choice in America 2011: Educational opportunity reaches new heights. Retrieved August 13, 2013, from http://www.heritage.org/research/reports/2011/08/school-choice-in-america-2011-educational-opportunity-reaches-new-heights
- Business Online Dictionary. (2013). *Effectiveness*. Retrieved August 13, 2013, from http://www.businessdictionary.com/definition/effectiveness.html
- Bye, L., Alvarez, M., Haynes, J., & Sweigart, C. E. (2010). *Truancy prevention and intervention: A practical guide*. New York: Oxford University Press.

- Byer, L., & Kuhn, J. (2003). A model response to truancy prevention: The Louisville truancy court diversion project. *Juvenile and Family Court Journal, Winter*, 59-67.
- Cameron, K. (1986). Effectiveness as a paradox: Consensus and conflict in conceptions of organizational effectiveness. *Management Science*, *32*, 539-553.
- Cameron, K., & Whetten, D. (Eds.). (1983). Organizational effectivness: A comparison of multiple models. New York: Academic Press.
- Center for Education Statistics. (2013). *The condition of education: Status dropout* rates. Washington, D.C.: United States Department of Education.
- Coleman, J., Campbell, E., Hobson, C., McPartland, F., Mood, A., Weinfield, F., et al. (1966). *Equality of education opportunity*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Corville-Smith, J., Ryan, B., Adams, G., & Delicando, T. (1998). Distinguishing absentee students from regular attenders: The combined influence of personal, family, and school factors. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 27, 629-640.
- Creswell, J. (2003). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.

- Crossley, N. (2004). Key concepts in critical social theory. London: Sage.
- Dembo, R., & Gulledge, L. (2009). Truancy intervention programs: Challenges and innovations to implementation. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, 20(4), 437-456.
- DiMaggio, P., & Powell, W. (1983). The iron cage revisited: Institutional isomorphism and collective rationality in organizational fields. *American Sociological Review*, 48, 147-160.
- Disability Rights Texas. (2013). Retrieved August 13, 2013, from http://www.disabilityrightstx.org/who-we-are
- Dougherty, W. (1983). Truancy patrol task force: A cooperative approach. *NASSP Bulletin*, 67, 119-122.
- Dustmann, C., Rajah, N., & Smith, S. (1997). Teenage truancy, part-time working and wages. *Journal of Population Economics*, 10(4), 425-442.
- Eastwold, P. (1989). Attendance is important: Combating truancy in the secondary school. *NASSP Bulletin*, *14*, 23-31.
- Education Week. (2011). *Achievement gap*. Retrieved November 5, 2013, from http://www.edweek.org/ew/issues/achievement-gap/

Elementary and Secondary Education Act, 1965

- Enea, V., & Dafinoiu, I. (2009). Motivational/solution-focused intervention for reducing school truancy among adolescents. *Journal of Cognitive and Behavioral Psychotherapies*, 9(2), 185-198.
- Fantuzzo, J., Grim, S., & Hazan, H. (2005). Project START: An evaluation of a community-wide school-based intervention to reduce truancy. *Psychology in the Schools*, 42(6), 657-667.
- Farrington, D. (1980). Truancy, delinquency, the home, and the school. In L. Hersov, & I. Berg (Eds.), *Out of school: Modern perspectives in truancy and school refusal* (pp. 49-63). New York: John Wiley.
- Fassett, D. (2001). You get pushed back: The social construction of educational success and failure and its implications for educational reform. *Annual Meeting of the Western States Communication Association* Coeur d'Alene, Idaho.
- Femia, J. (1975). Hegemony and consciousness in the thought of Antonio Gramsci. *Political Studies*, 23(1), 29-48.
- Fornwalt, R. (1947). Toward an understanding of truancy. *The School Review*, 55, 87-92.

- Garrison, A. (2006). I missed the bus: School grade transitions, the Wilmington truancy center, and reasons youth don't go to school. *Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice*, 4(2), 204-212.
- Garry, E. (1996). *Truancy: First step to a lifetime of problems*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.
- Gergen, K. (1978). Experimentation in social psychology: A reappraisal. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 8, 507-527.
- Gergen, K. (1996). Who speaks and who responds in the human sciences? *History of the Human Sciences*, 10, 151-173.
- Goals 2000: Educate America Act, 1994
- Guare, R., & Cooper, B. (2003). *Truancy revisited: Students as school consumers*. New York: Scarecrow Press.
- Hacking, I. (1999). *The social construction of what*. Cambridge, Massachusetts: First Harvard University Press.
- Hallinan, M. (2008). Teacher influences on students' attachment to school. *Sociology of Education*, 81, 271-283.

- Hammerseley, M. (1992). What's wrong with ethnography: Methodological explorations. New York: Routledge.
- Hayes, W. (2008). *No child left behind: Past, present, and future*. Lanham, Maryland: Rowan & Littlefield.
- Heilbrunn, J. (2007). *Pieces of the truancy jigsaw: A literature review*. Denver, Colorado: National Center for School Engagement.
- Herman, R., & Renz, D. (1999). Theses on nonprofit organizational effectiveness.

 Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly, 28(2), 107-126.
- Holstein, J., & Gubrium, J. (2008). *Handbook of constructionist research*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Huck, J. (2011). Truancy programs: Are the effects too easily washed away? *Education* and *Urban Society*, 43, 499-516.

Improving America's Schools Act, 1994

Jorgensen, M., & Hoffman, J. (2003). *History of the No Child Left Behind Act of 2001*.

Retrieved August 13, 2013, from

http://www.pearsonassessments.com/NR/rdonlyres/D8E33AAE-BED1-4743-98A1-BDF4D49D7274/0/HistoryofNCLB.pdf

- Kiviat, B. (2000). *The social side of schooling*. Retrieved August 13, 2013, from http://www.jhu.edu/jhumag/0400web/18.html
- Lareau, A. (2003). Unequal childhoods: Class, race, and family life. Berkeley, California: University of California Press.
- Lofland, J. (1997). Synthesizing research findings on collective behavior and social movements. *Mobilization*, 2, 1-20.
- Marvul, J. (2012). If you build it, they will come: A successful truancy intervention program in a small high school. *Urban Education*, 47(1), 144-169.
- Marx, K., & Engels, F. (1888). The communist manifesto. New York: Signet Classic.
- McDonald, T. E. (2009). Perceptions of juvenile judges, case managers, and program managers in one truancy program concerning the adjudication process of status truancy offenders. (Order No. 3447679, Lamar University Beaumont). ProQuest Dissertations and Theses, 218. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.uta.edu/docview/858611468?accountid=7117

- McGillvary, H. (2006). Assessing the prevalence of truancy: A four piece puzzle.

 Denver, Colorado: National Center for School Engagement.
- Meyer, J., & Rowan, B. (1977). Institutional organizations: Formal structure as myth and ceremony. *American Journal of Sociology*, 83, 340-363.
- Mueller, D., Giacomazzi, A., & Stoddard, C. (2006). Dealing with chronic absenteeism and its related consequences: The process and short-term effects of a diversionary juvenile court intervention. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk*, 11(2), 199-219.
- National center for youth law. (2013). Retrieved August 13, 2013, from http://www.youthlaw.org/about_ncyl/
- Newsome, S. (2004). Solution-focused brief therapy groupwork with at-risk junior high students: Enhancing the bottomline. *Research on Social Work Practice*, *14*(5), 336-343.
- Oakes, J., Selvin, M., Karoly, K., & Guiton, G. (1992). *Educational matchmaking:*Academic and vocational tracking in comprehensive high schools. Berkley,

 California: National Center for Research in Vocational Education.

Office of Juvenile Justice andDelinquency Prevention. (2008). *Model programs guide*.

Retrieved May, 2013, from

http://www.ojjdp.gov/mpg/Home/Error?aspxerrorpath=/mpg/progTypesTruancy.as

px

Ornstein, A., & Levine, D. (1984). *Introduction to the foundations of education*.

Boston: Houghton Mifflin.

Oxford Online Dictionary. (2013). *Success*. Retrieved August 13, 2013, from http://www.oxforddictionaries.com/us/definition/american_english/success

Parsons, T. (1951). The social system. New York: Free Press.

Parsons, T. (1955). Family, socialization, and interaction process. Glencoe, Illinois: Free Press.

Patton, M. (2002). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.

Peterson, P., & West, M. (2003). No Child Left Behind: The politics and practice of school accountability. Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution Press.

- Phillips, M. (2012). Why should we care about vocational education? Retrieved

 November 5, 2013, from http://www.edutopia.org/blog/vocational-education-benefits-mark-phillips
- Reid, K., & Kendall, L. (1982). A review of some recent research into persistent school absenteeism. *British Journal of Educational Studies*, *30*, 265-312.
- Robinson, L. B. (2009). High school students' perceptions of supports for and barriers to completion of the stay in school truancy prevention program. (Order No. 3371325, Sam Houston State University). ProQuest Dissertations and Theses, 160. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.uta.edu/docview/305063823?accountid=7117
- Rohrman, D. (1993). Combating truancy in our schools a community effort. *Bulletin*, 76, 40-51.
- Rorty, M. (1979). *Philosophy and the mirror of nature*. Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Sampson, R., & Wilson, W. (1994). Toward a theory of race, crime, and urban inequality. In J. Hagen, & R. Peterson (Eds.), *Crime and inequality* (pp. 37-54).Stanford, California: Stanford University Press.

- Schneider, A., & Ingram, H. (1997). *Policy design for democracy*. Lawrence, Kansas: University Press of Kansas.
- Schneider, A., & Ingram, H. (2005). *Deserving and entitled: Social constructions and public policy*. Albany, New York: New York Press.
- Scott, R. (2008). *Institutions and organizations: Ideas and interests*. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.
- Sherman, K. M. (2012). Participant perceptions of the check and connect truancy intervention: A case study. (Order No. 3515473, Widener University). ProQuest Dissertations and Theses, 148. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.uta.edu/docview/1022199296?accountid=7117
- Sismondo, S. (1993). Some social constructions. *Social Studies of Science*, 23(3), 515-553.
- Sommer, B. (1985). What's different about truants? A comparison study of eight-graders. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *14*, 411-423.
- Sommer, B., & Nagel, S. (1991). Ecological and typological characteristics in early adolescent truancy. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 11, 379-392.

- Southwell, N. (2006). Truants on truancy: A badness or a valuable indicator of unmet special education needs? *British Journal of Special Education*, *33*, 91-97.
- Texas Appleseed. (2013). Retrieved August 13, 2013, from

 http://www.texasappleseed.net/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=25&Itemid=204
- Texas Educaiton Agency. (2012). *Adequate yearly progress report: Dallas Can***Academy. Retrieved August 13, 2013, from http://ritter.tea.state.tx.us/cgi/sas/broker
- Texas Educaiton Agency. (2012). Adequate yearly progress report: Dallas independent school district. Retrieved August 13, 2013, from http://ritter.tea.state.tx.us/cgi/sas/broker
- Texas Educaiton Agency. (2012). Adequate yearly progress report: Garland independent school district. Retrieved August 13, 2013, from http://ritter.tea.state.tx.us/cgi/sas/broker
- Texas Educaiton Agency. (2012). Adequate yearly progress report: Richardson independent school district. Retrieved August 13, 2013, from http://ritter.tea.state.tx.us/cgi/sas/broker

- Texas Educaiton Agency. (2012). Adequate yearly progress report: Sunnyvale independent school district. Retrieved August 13, 2013, from http://ritter.tea.state.tx.us/cgi/sas/broker
- Texas Education Agency. (2012). Adequate yearly progress report: Mesquite independent school district. Retrieved August 13, 2013, from http://ritter.tea.state.tx.us/cgi/sas/broker
- The National Commission on Excellence in Education. (1983). *A nation at risk: The imperative for educational reform*. Washington, D. C.: U.S. Department of Education.
- United States Department of Education. (2013). *Improving basic programs operated by local educational agencies (title I, part A)*. Retrieved August 13, 2013, from

 http://www2.ed.gov/programs/titleiparta/legislation.html
- Veenstra, R., Lindenberg, S., Tinga, F., & Ormel, J. (2010). Truancy in late elementary and early secondary education: The influence of social bonds and self-control.

 International Journal of Behavioral Development, 34, 302-310.
- Wesley, T., & Dutweller, P. (2005). *Guidelines for evaluating truancy programs*.

 Truancy Prevention in Action.

- White, M., Fyfe, J., Campbell, S., & Goldkamp, J. (2001). The school-police partnership: Identifying at-risk youth through a truant recovery program. *Evaluation Review*, 25(5), 507-532.
- Zhang, D., Wilson, V., Katsiyannis, A., Barrett, D., Ju, S., & Wu, J. (2010). Truancy offenders in the juvenile justice system: A multi cohort study. *Behavioral Disorders*, 35(3), 229-242.
- Zinth, K. (2005). *Truancy and habitual truancy: Examples of state definitions*. Denver, Colorado: Education Commission of the States.

BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

The author, Veronica Natasha Cole, was born March 2, 1984, in Dallas, Texas, to Glenn and Earnestine Cole.

Ms. Cole graduated a year early from Rockwall High School, in Rockwall, Texas, in 2001. She received a Bachelor of Arts degree in Psychology from Texas Woman's University in 2005 and two Master of Arts degrees, one in Government and the other in Teaching from Texas Woman's University in 2008 and 2010. While working on her undergraduate degree at Texas Woman's University, Ms. Cole was a member of Dr. Karen Jackson's research team which utilized surveys to determine optimal academic advising styles. She also interned at the Office of Senator Royce West and at the Law Enforcement Management Institute (LEMIT) under the direction of Dr. Jim Alexander and Dr. David Bugg. As an intern at the Office of Senator Royce West, Ms. Cole was responsible for actively observing the law-making process and the interpretation of laws, processing applications for the "Conrad Leadership Program," founded by Senator West, researching controversial issues and laws (i.e.: top 10% law and social security), and engaging in social work concerning child protective services, child support, social security, discrimination, and inmate transfers due to hardship. During her time at LEMIT, Ms. Cole worked closely with police officers and professors, to gain insight into the field of law enforcement.

Ms. Cole's career as a professional educator began in 2010 and has continued to the present. As an employee of the Richardson Independent School District, Ms. Cole taught for one year at Lake Highlands High School and three years at Berkner High School. Her professional affiliations include: The Texas Alliance for Geographic Education, World Affairs Council, and Pi Lambda Theta. In her spare time, Ms. Cole enjoys traveling, reading, and spending time with family and friends.